A Landscape Approach towards Ecological Integrity of Catchments and Streams

Johan Törnblom

Faculty of Forest Sciences Department of Forest Products Uppsala

Doctoral Thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Uppsala 2008 Acta Universitatis Agriculturae Sueciae 2008:70

Cover: A TerrAquatic Landscape Perspective (Illustration: Martin Holmer)

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN 978-91-86195-03-8 © 2008 Johan Törnblom, Uppsala Tryck: SLU Service/Repro, Uppsala 2008

Abstract

Landscape ecology principles were applied to study how in-stream structures as well as terrestrial land cover and land use affect the ecological integrity of streams. Focusing on the role of habitat factors at multiple spatial scales of catchments as independent variables, macroinvertebrates, brown trout (Salmo trutta) and freshwater pearl mussels (Margaritifera margaritifera) were used as dependent response variables. Special efforts were made to capture the range of impacts along the gradient from altered to near-natural catchments in Europe's centre and north. With 25 catchments in the Carpathian Mountains in Central Europe as a landscape laboratory and a natural experiment design I studied the relationships between catchment land cover composition, riparian vegetation, and in-stream habitat characteristics on the one hand, and benthic macroinvertebrate assemblages on the other. The most important variables were at the terrestrial catchment level. The usefulness of data representing higher taxonomic levels and the use of the abundance of individuals from the orders Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera and Trichoptera, as surrogates for species richness was evaluated. Plecoptera was identified as the most effective group. Comparison of the abundance and taxonomic richness of the Plecoptera order in relation to catchment forest cover and water chemistry demonstrated the occurrence of non-linear response to forest cover. Using Swedish data I showed that it is possible to predict viable freshwater pearl mussel populations from riparian land cover, water chemistry and the abundance of the host fish species (brown trout). In another study a positive effect of woody debris on the abundance and size of brown trout in Swedish forest streams was observed. Altogether these results stress the importance of adopting a multiple scale perspective when assessing ecological integrity in riverine landscapes, from the amount of local in-stream structures as large woody debris (LWD) to the effects of riparian and catchment land cover composition and land use. To support implementation of EU policies about good ecological status a systematic landscape approach including (1) quantification of the ecological integrity concept, and (2) collaborative and communicative bottom-up participatory approaches to spatial planning need to be combined.

Keywords: landscape ecology, ecological integrity, riverine landscapes, riparian zones, large woody debris, ecological status, policy implementation, spatial planning.

Author's address: Johan Törnblom, Department Forest Products and School for Forest Engineers, SLU Box 43, 739 21 Skinnskatteberg, Sweden *E-mail:* Johan.Tornblom@smsk.slu.se

Dedication

This thesis I dedicate to those we live with and love and should try to know better before they elude us...

"I sat there and forgot and forgot, until what remained was the river that went by and I who watched. On the river the heat mirages danced with each other and then they danced through each other and then they joined hands and danced around each other. Eventually the watcher joined the river, and there was only one of us. I believe it was the river.

Even the anatomy of a river was laid bare. Not far down-stream was a dry channel where the river had run once, and part of the way to know a thing is through its death. But years ago I had known the river when it flowed through this now dry channel, so I could enliven its stony remains with the waters of memory.

In death it had its pattern, and we can only hope for as much. Its overall pattern was the favourite serpentine curve of the artist sketched on the valley from my hill to the last hill I could see on the other side. But internally it was made of sharp angles. It ran seemingly straight for a while, turned abruptly, then ran smoothly again, then met another obstacle, again was turned sharply and again ran smoothly. Straight lines couldn't be exactly straight and angles that couldn't have been exactly right angles became the artist's most beautiful curve and swept from here across the valley to where it could be no longer seen."

Norman Maclean A river runs through it

Contents

List of Publications 7			
Abbreviations 9			
1	Introduction	11	
2	Objectives	19	
3	Background	21	
3.1	Land cover composition and biodiversity in streams	21	
3.2	Habitat variables and focal species' requirements	23	
3.3	Large woody debris as a functional in-stream structure in small forest		
	streams	24	
3.4	Knowledge gaps for applying a hierarchical approach to assess		
	ecological integrity	25	
4	Methods	29	
4.1	Study areas	29	
4.2	Land cover composition and macroinvertebrate assemblages (Paper	I)30	
4.3	Rapid assessment of macroinvertebrate species richness in second and		
	third order streams (Paper II)	32	
4.4	Plecoptera as a bioindicator for catchment integrity (Paper III)	32	
4.5	Predicting occurrence of viable populations of freshwater pearl		
	mussels, Margaritifera margaritifera (L.) (Paper IV)	33	
4.6	Dead wood in Swedish small forest streams (Paper V)	34	
4.7	Towards a hierarchical toolbox for TerrAquatic perspectives in riverine		
	landscapes (Paper VI)	35	
5	Results and Discussion	39	
5.1	Paper I	39	
5.2	Paper II	41	
5.3	Paper III	44	
5.4	Paper IV	46	
5.5	Paper V	49	
5.6	Paper VI	51	
5.7	Sustainable landscapes and catchments?	52	
5.8	Towards systematic assessments of ecological integrity	53	

Further research needs	55	
Focal species as indicators and communication tools	55	
Linking ecosystems and institutions		
Conclusions	58	
References		
Acknowledgements	73	
	Further research needs Focal species as indicators and communication tools Linking ecosystems and institutions Conclusions ences Acknowledgements	

List of Publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- I Törnblom, J., Angelstam, P., Degerman, E., Henrikson, L., Edman, T., Temnerud, J. 2007. The relative roles of landscape, riparian and instream factors to macroinvertebrate composition in local catchments: changed country borders as landscape experiments (submitted manuscript).
- II Törnblom, J., Roberge, J-M., Angelstam, P., Rapid assessment of macroinvertebrate species richness in second and third order streams an evaluation of surrogates across a gradient of land-use intensity in the Carpathian Mountains (manuscript).
- III Törnblom, J., Degerman, E. Angelstam, P. Dose-response relationship using the benthic macroinvertebrate Plecoptera as a bioindicator for ecological integrity of catchments (manuscript).
- IV Törnblom, J., Degerman, E. Angelstam, P., Henrikson, L., Söderberg, H., Norrgrann, O., Andersson, K. Predicting occurrence of viable populations of freshwater pearl mussels, *Margaritifera margaritifera* (L.), in Swedish boreal forest (manuscript).
- V Degerman, E., Sers, B., Törnblom, J., Angelstam, P. (2004). Large woody debris and brown trout in small forest streams – towards targets assessment and management of riparian landscapes. Ecological Bulletins 51:233-239.
- VI Törnblom, J., Angelstam, P. Implementing the EU Water Framework Directive: Towards a hierarchical toolbox for achieving Good Ecological Status in riverine landscapes (manuscript).

Paper V is reproduced with the permission from the Oikos Editorial Office.

Abbreviations

CCA	Canonical Correspondence Analysis
EPT	Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera, Trichoptera
FPM	Freshwater Pearl Mussel
GIS	Geographical Information System
HSI	Habitat Suitability Index
IUCN	International Union for Conservation of Nature
LWD	Large Woody Debris
PCA	Principal Component Analysis
SEPA	Swedish Environmental Protection Agency
SERS	Swedish Electrofishing RegiSter
TAGA	TerrAquatic Gap Analysis
WCED	World Commission on Environment and Development
WFD	Water Framework Directive

1 Introduction

Gap analysis is a tool for strategic level assessment of the extent to which environmental policies succeed in maintaining biodiversity by protection, management and restoration of habitat networks (Scott *et al.*, 1993, 1996). Originally developed in the USA, gap analyses have been used in terrestrial systems to increase society's awareness about conservation needs, and to guide the practical implementation of such policies (Scott *et al.*, 1993; Sowa, 1999; Angelstam & Andersson, 2001; Lõhmus *et al.*, 2004; Scott & Schipper, 2006). The rationale for focusing on the functionality of habitat networks is that they serve as proxies for the maintenance of viable populations of species, and vital ecosystem processes and ecological integrity.

Originally gap analyses focused on representation, i.e. that the different types of conservation areas should represent the natural composition of different ecosystems in an ecoregion (Margules & Pressey, 2000). Angelstam & Andersson (2001) developed the idea further by combining quantification of the habitat area with information about thresholds for the amount and quality of habitats needed to maintain viable populations within an ecoregion. This approach is now the basis for both the Swedish forest protection strategy (Angelstam & Andersson, 2001; SUS, 2001), and Swedish state forest company Sveaskog's quantitative biodiversity maintenance goals (Angelstam et al., 2006). Quantitative regional gap analyses have also been applied recently for Estonia (Lõhmus et al., 2003) and Latvia (Angelstam et al., 2006). A regional quantitative gap analysis contains the following steps: (1) measure today's amount of different representative habitats in an ecoregion, (2) compare the amounts with ecologically-based performance targets interpreting the relevant policies (such as maintaining viable populations of naturally occurring species), (3) conclude whether there is a gap or not, and if so for what habitat, and

where. Analyses can be made at multiple scales, ranging from a country to a land management unit or a watershed.

For aquatic ecosystems in riverine landscapes there is no such tradition in planning of systematic analyses for conservation and restoration management (Wiens, 2002). There is, however, a growing insight that there are complex interactions between the terrestrial and aquatic systems on the one hand, and social systems involved with policy implementation by governance, planning and management on the other. Being a social-ecological system the term landscape approach (e.g., Singer, 2007) captures this need for applied interdisciplinary, i.e. transdisciplinary (Tress & Tress, 2003; Angelstam et al., 2004; Tress et al., 2005), approaches. The term landscape approach also emphasizes broad spatial scales and the ecological effects of the spatial patterning of ecosystems. Specifically, it considers (a) the development and dynamics of spatial heterogeneity, (b) interactions and exchanges across heterogeneous landscapes, (c) the influences of spatial heterogeneity on biotic and abiotic processes, and (d) the management spatial heterogeneity (Risser et al., 1984). Angelstam et al. (2004) reflects the idea that landscapes evolve through time, as a result of being acted upon by natural forces and human beings, which underlines that landscapes forms a whole, whose natural and socio-cultural components are taken together, not separately (Berkes et al., 2003).

Land managers have traditionally assumed that achieving maximum local habitat diversity will favour diversity of wildlife. Recent trends in species composition in fragmented landscapes suggest, however, that a more comprehensive view is required for perpetuation of regional diversity (Noss, 1983). A regional network of reserves, with sensitive habitats insulated from human disturbance, might best perpetuate ecosystem integrity in the long term (Noss, 1983). Ecological integrity has been expressed as the maintenance of all internal and external community processes and attributes so that high ecological integrity corresponds to a natural state and where the natural community is preserved by regulation, resilience, and resistance to environmental stress (Moog, 1995; Moog & Chovanec, 2000). This definition is analogous to Karr's (1990) definition of ecological (or biological) integrity. A major goal of conservation is the perpetuation of indigenous ecosystem's structure, function, and integrity. Thus parks, reserves, and wildlife areas should have perpetuation of natural ecosystems as a principal goal (Noss, 1983).

A landscape can be perceived as a contiguous area, intermediate in size between an ecoregion and a site, with a specific set of economic, ecological, socio-cultural characteristics. In addition a landscape can also be perceived as

a social system with institutions and people representing different actors and stakeholders in public, private and civil sectors at multiple levels. This is consistent with the idea that landscapes are social-ecological systems (Norton, 2003; Berkes et al., 2003). While forest managers try to accommodate commodity and non-commodity values in the same management unit, conservationists often define functional conservation landscapes, and other stakeholders such as farming communities may define their cultural or livelihood landscapes (e.g., Innes & Hoen, 2005). But individual ecosystems, the traditional focus of ecology, should not be seen as separate entities (Hansson, 1977). Almost all ecosystems are "open" and exchange energy, mineral nutrients, and species. Particularly in highly heterogeneous regions, the landscape mosaic may be a more appropriate unit of study and management than single sites or ecosystems. Landscape has been variously defined, usually in somewhat ambiguous terms. Forman and Godron (1981) suggest a more precise definition of landscape as a "kilometres-wide area where a cluster of interacting stands or ecosystems is repeated in similar form." A landscape is therefore an ecological unit with a distinguishable structure. The importance of the landscape concept is in its recognition that the structural components of a landscape interact (Forman, 1981; Forman & Godron, 1981). This is consistent with the view that the functionality of protected area networks is dependent on the quality of the matrix surrounding them.

The EU Water Framework Directive (Directive, 2000/60/EC) (WFD) recently implicitly reinforced the application of an applied has interdisciplinary, or transdisciplinary, approach. Inspired by the successful implementation of landscape ecological principles in terrestrial systems, Wiens (2002) and Rabeni & Sowa (2002) forcefully argued that such principles should also be applied when analysing riverine landscapes. The ecological principles include the importance of: (1) variable patch quality, (2) patch boundaries affecting flows, (3) patch context, (4) connectivity, (5) organisms and (6) scale. Improving the performance of natural resource governance and management within specific social-ecological systems, or simply landscapes and catchments, requires an understanding from politicians, civil servants and stakeholders in the context of ecological integrity of temporal and spatial boundaries of the system itself. The policies associated to the implementation of the 16 Swedish environmental quality objectives, the WFD's ambition to reach good ecological water status, or the Swedish forestry acts' ambition to preserve all naturally occurring species in viable populations, expect the fulfilment of these documents declarations. In addition issues perceived as concerns by the actors and stakeholders in the

social-ecological system, *i.e.* landscape, and policy objectives, institutions, instruments and organizations addressing these issues must be understood in order to implement and concretize expected functionality. It is possible to improve the policy implementation by governance and management of ecosystems by systematically identifying institutional contexts at play, i.e. people, agencies, and policy processes (Lee, 1993; Clark *et al.*, 1996). In order to protect, manage and restore ecological integrity it thus becomes necessary to identify the institutional barriers, which also may include major social and economic forces that are currently driving the loss of functional diversity and to create incentives to redirect those forces (Folke *et al.*, 1996; Sabatier *et al.*, 2005b; Pahl-Wastl, 2006).

Because aquatic systems have been viewed as discrete systems in general, separate from their surrounding landscapes and therefore easy to collect data in (Schneider et al., 2002), there is a very long tradition of collecting data of chemical, physical and biological variables. Good examples are pH, conductivity, alkalinity, dissolved organic carbon (DOC), light, erosion, stream morphology, temperature, fish and macroinvertebrates. For systematic analyses of riverine landscapes analogous to terrestrial gap analyses there is, however, a need to evaluate different indicator variables and develop performance targets that define ecological integrity. Relationships between woody debris in water, and fish and benthos (Sundbaum & Näslund, 1998; Lemly & Hildebrand, 2000; Zalewski, 2002; Degerman et al., 2004), sediment load and fish (Eriksson & Nyberg, 2001; Richardson & Lowett, 2002), insolation and benthos (Olsson, 1995), suggest that the indicator approach is indeed feasible. However, along with performance targets and new insights concerning thresholds for "how much is enough" of habitats within the different spatial scales of a catchment, it is also necessary to understand the processes that affect the composition and structure of ecosystems (Noss, 1990; Angelstam & Kuuluvainen, 2004).

The ecological consequences of land cover and land use change for biodiversity and ecological integrity of rivers and streams is a prominent environmental issue worldwide (Karr & Chu, 1999; Moore & Palmer, 2005). The decline of species richness, abundance and diversity, along with the loss of ecosystem goods and services provided by river systems with intact ecological integrity (Costanza, 1991), are global problems (Dynesius & Nilsson 1994; Master *et al.*, 1997; Naiman & Turner, 2000; Nilsson *et al.*, 2005). The forces driving degradation of rivers and streams include anthropogenic fragmentation and loss of habitat, pollution, and introduction of exotic species. Achieving ecological integrity thus usually requires active ecosystem restoration (Karr, 1991; Karr & Chu, 1999). The concept of

ecological integrity was developed to capture the complex changes in ecosystem under anthropogenic stress (Frey, 1977; Karr, 1991). True ecological integrity is supposed to occur in pristine systems without human influence. Areas characterised by such reference conditions for biological integrity are assumed to support a community composition that is the product of evolutionary and biogeographical patterns and processes (Karr, 1991; Angermeier & Karr, 1994; Karr & Chu, 1999). To implement policy ambitions about ecological integrity necessitates new and innovative approaches to adaptive management and governance as well as assessment that are applied across multiple spatial and temporal scales, from in-stream habitats to entire catchments and regions.

The biodiversity concept encompasses compositional, structural and functional elements at multiple spatial scales (Noss, 1990). For forest ecosystems Larsson *et al* (2001) used natural forest dynamics as a benchmark for defining what these elements are. The same approach is suggested for rivers and streams in riverine landscapes in this thesis. The geomorphology of the valley determines the soil and availability of ions, and also the slope of the land. Soil, water and climate shape the vegetation. In turn, the vegetation determines the supply of organic matter together with the soil that influences water chemistry and water inputs to the stream (Hynes, 1975; Minshall *et al.*, 1985; Naiman *et al.*, 1987; Moore *et al.*, 1991; Chipman & Johnson, 2002).

In managed landscapes human activity cause large and cumulative effects on catchments, streams and rivers, sometimes direct and obvious, sometimes more subtle (Giller & Malmqvist, 1998). This means that rather than simply associated with the stream channel it self, management of stream ecosystems should include entire catchments from multiple perspectives. In order to understand the level of ecological integrity of streams and rivers holistically, it is thus necessary to consider the entire drainage basin, incorporating both the aquatic system and its surrounding catchment from micro level to macro landscape levels (Hynes, 1975; Richards et al., 1997; Townsend et al., 1997). In addition EU and the Swedish Parliament explicitly, through associated directives and policies, expect viable populations of all naturally occurring species, good ecological water status as well as sustainable development. However, the concept of sustainable development in Sweden has changed from an ecological perspective to a more general focus on economical and social perspectives. This means that the connection between sustainable development and environmental politics has become weaker (Lundqvist & Carlsson, 2004). Sustainable development tends to be an "umbrella concept" for a holistic vision for a future welfare society and the emphasis is focused on the process of the framework involving economical development, social welfare, co-operation, good environment, democracy and participation, health and equity in a general sense (Lundqvist & Carlsson, 2004). Ellen Wohl (2001) put out the question if it is feasible to save a species without saving the ecosystem in which that species evolved, in the context of the historical degradation of rivers and associated restoration efforts. Törnblom & Angelstam (in press) put out the question if it is feasible to declare that a landscape or a catchment is sustainable and resilient as long as it meets societal needs and expectations, when society at the same time is loosing vital ecosystems and viable populations.

Riverine landscapes are dynamic at multiple spatial scales (Frisell et al., 1986), and catchment scale processes are often considered as the most important drivers of system structure and function (Hauer et al., 2003). There are thus suggestions to expand the assessments from isolated aquatic in-stream environment and the riparian zone, both of which are well studied (e.g., Malanson, 1993; Bergquist, 1999), to the level of riverine landscapes constituted by entire drainage basins (Vannote et al., 1980; Harding et al., 1998; Wiens, 2002; Strayer et al., 2003). To communicate this logic for planners and managers involved with policy implementation at different levels and in different sectors a two-dimensional approach is needed (Lazdinis & Angelstam, 2004). On the one hand, a multi-level approach to social and ecological systems including strategic assessment, tactical planning and operational management is needed (e.g., see Lazdinis & Angelstam, 2004). On the other the implementing actors and institutions in a selected area need to be understood by 1) identification of the actors and mapping of policy networks, 2) evaluation of the implementation process to learn about the issues of concern, and 3) evaluation of policy implementation outcomes in the defined social-ecological system. This landscape approach must be carried out using both human and natural science approaches before applied at a variety of temporal and spatial scales from headwater stream segments to lowland river reaches, catchments and whole riverine landscapes. In Europe such an approach is explicitly advocated by the EU Water Framework Directive (Directive, 2000/60/EC), and implicitly by several other national and international policies

This thesis focuses on terrestrial and aquatic interactions within landscapes and catchments concerning macroinvertebrate distribution in catchments with different land use intensity and history, rapid assessments in streams using the Ephemeroptera-, Plecoptera-, and Trichoptera-group as a surrogate for species richness, thresholds concerning headwater catchment's proportions of forest and dose-response relationships concerning the

macroinvertebrate Plecoptera group, predicted occurrence of viable freshwater pearl mussel populations, large woody debris correlations to brown trout and finally different governance approaches and a hierarchical tool box for achieving good ecological status in riverine landscapes. The read thread through this thesis is the effort towards understanding, communication and perception of how much is enough of habitats before loosing functional ecological integrity within landscapes and catchments at multiple spatial and temporal scales.

2 Objectives

The main objective of this thesis is to understand how much is enough of human impact before risking ecological integrity in different spatial scales, and propose a tentative framework for communication of possible thresholds that contributes to quantify the concept of "good ecological status" (Directive, 2000/60/EC). The hypothesis presented below spans from micro to macro scale structures and composition *i.e.* from in-stream habitat structures such as large woody debris, bottom substrates, and riparian composition to landscape- and catchment land cover composition. The specific hypotheses were:

- 1. Land use and cover explain the composition of biota in streams (Paper I)
- 2. Macro-scale variables contribute more than micro-scale riparian or instream variables to the explanation of macroinvertebrate assemblages in 2nd and 3rd order streams (**Paper I**)
- 3. Higher taxonomic levels of macroinvertebrates are surrogates for species richness in second and third order streams (**Paper II**)
- 4. The EPT-concept (Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera and Trichoptera) is a useful surrogate for species richness within headwater catchments (**Paper II**)
- 5. Plecoptera is an effective bio-indicator in headwater catchments for predicting the ecological integrity associated to terrestrial land cover (**Paper III**)
- 6. There are thresholds concerning forest proportions within catchments for Plecoptera abundance and taxa richness (**Paper III**)
- 7. It is possible to predict freshwater pearl mussel population viability from a combination of GIS-data describing land use in the riparian zone, water chemistry and host fish abundance (**Paper IV**)

- 8. The freshwater pearl mussel is an indicator species for landscape composition and catchment land cover in the riparian zone (**Paper IV**)
- 9. Large woody debris is correlated to the occurrence of brown trout (Paper V)
- 10. The abundance of large woody debris and brown trout are correlated (**Paper V**)

Finally, to reduce the observed scale mismatch between the need for systematic approach on the one hand and reality concerning the ambition to preserve all naturally occurring species in viable populations on the other, my ambition was to develop (**Paper VI**) an applied interdisciplinary, i.e. transdisciplinary approach (Tress *et al.*, 2005), thus implicitly supporting the implementation of policies about ecological integrity.

This thesis thus deals with how biota at different taxonomic levels respond to the composition and structure of ecosystems at multiple spatial scales from in-stream habitat structures such as large woody debris and bottom substrates to land cover composition in the regional landscape (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Illustration of how this thesis' six papers reflect the taxonomic level (vertical axis) and spatial scale (horizontal axis) associated with a landscape approach to support the implementation of policies about the maintenance of biodiversity and ecological integrity. Illustration Martin Holmer.

3 Background

3.1 Land cover composition and biodiversity in streams

Several ecological approaches have been developed to explain how streams function in the context of an entire catchment (Ward, 1989; Lorenz et al., 1997; Harding et al., 1998; Strayer et al., 2003). These include approaches that focus on longitudinal and vertical changes of the biota with increasing stream order; that emphasize lateral interactions between terrestrial and aquatic dimensions; that integrate longitudinal, lateral and vertical dimensions of streams; or that stress spatial hierarchies and temporal change (Huet, 1954; Illies & Botosaneanu, 1963; Hynes, 1975; Vannote et al., 1980; Newbold et al., 1981; Stazner & Higler, 1986; Junk et al., 1989; Poff et al., 1997). Other concepts like landscape classification schemes (Frisell et al., 1986) have been used for identifying and reducing uncertainties associated with natural variation in landscape processes. The use of such schemes was intended to minimize the number of parameters needed to categorize spatial variability and identify uncertainties (Bauer & Ralph, 1999). Stream classification systems use the same suite of key variables including geology, valley floor constraint, and channel slope to determine stream channel type over an entire catchment. Features used to identify common characteristics and classify channel reaches and valley segments are considered relevant for developing restoration plans, where stream reaches with similar physical characteristics may exhibit similar responses to land-use and restoration actions.

Variations in stream flow, invertebrate drift, boundary exchanges, patch context, or riverine connectivity affect different organisms in various ways (Wiens, 2002). Because different organisms have different movement capacities and expressions of patch or habitat selection, their responses to the heterogeneous structure of a landscape mosaic will differ. The overall

patterns of composition, structure and function of biodiversity that occur within riverine systems reflect these organisms' responses to landscape structure in multiple scales. Species richness may be greater at ecotones or boundaries between patches in the riverine landscape (Ward & Wiens, 2001; Ward & Tockner, 2001), as a consequence of the attraction of some organisms to the boundary and the accumulation of others at the interface between hospitable and inhospitable patches (Wiens, 2002). Because different taxa may respond differently to landscape properties, the spatial patterns of diversity may also vary among groups. For example, Tockner, Schiemer and Ward (1998) documented a peak in fish diversity in portions of the Danube floodplain that had high connectivity to the main river channel, whereas amphibian diversity peaked where connectivity was low, in isolated floodplain ponds (Wiens, 2002).

These broad diversity patterns are ultimately founded on the ways in which particular organisms or species relate to landscape composition, structure and process. This leads to the general conclusion that riverine landscapes are proposed to be viewed from a multiple organismal rather than an exclusively anthropocentric perspective (Wiens et al., 1993). However, there is always a risk in advocating an organism-based approach where there are tendencies for habitat-optimizing activities and situation-specific findings with little emergent generality. Describing broad patterns of biodiversity is one way to deal with this problem, but important information can be lost under the umbrella of "diversity" (Wiens, 2002). Several aquatic ecologists (e.g., Townsend & Hildrew, 1994; Resh et al., 1994; Rader, 1997; Poff et al., 1997) have suggested that general patterns in the distribution and abundance of species or in the assembly of communities might be derived by aggregating taxa into "trait or functional groups" based on shared combinations of ecological and life-history features (Cummins, 1973; Cummins & Merrit, 1996). Similarly, the focal species concept was developed in response to the need to explore the opportunity of using particular species, guilds or functional groups as tools for biodiversity conservation (Roberge & Angelstam, 2004).

An important question pertains to understanding how natural variations (*e.g.*, disturbance regimes) in catchment and stream factors have determined watershed conditions (Benda *et al.*, 1998) in naturally dynamic ecosystems. The types, frequencies and extents of natural disturbances can be inferred using historical information about large-scale disturbance mechanisms (*e.g.*, flooding, fire and storm events) within relatively unaltered watersheds. Knowledge of natural disturbance regimes can facilitate assessments of how watersheds have been affected by human perturbations (Beechie & Bolton,

1999). However, some watershed processes have been altered by human actions for long periods of time over large areas, to the extent that natural disturbance regimes can no longer be identified (Bauer & Ralph, 1999). This stresses the need to cover the whole gradient of landscape alteration when studying ecological integrity within catchments.

In the first three papers of this thesis, I studied landscape composition, riparian vegetation, in-stream habitat characteristics and macroinvertebrate assemblages in 25 catchments located in the Carpathian Mountains in Central Europe. This region was selected because it presents much variation and a very long gradient in the intensity of land management activities known to affect ecological integrity of streams (*e.g.*, forestry and agriculture) among different areas belonging to the same ecoregion (Angelstam, 2006; Kuemmerle *et al.*, 2006).

3.2 Habitat variables and focal species' requirements

Milner *et al.* (1985) defined habitat for fish as the "local physicochemical and biological features of a site that constitute the daily environment for fish". Hence, although fish clearly respond to local conditions within the stream channel, habitat quality is also influenced by activities and conditions that may occur far from the stream.

With policies aiming at striking a balance between use of natural resources and biodiversity conservation within different catchments in a riverine landscape it could be essential that quantitative requirements for e.g. population viability are well understood by actors and stakeholders. A number of studies performed in various systems suggest that there may be thresholds in the biological response to habitat alteration (Carlson, 2000; Roberge & Angelstam, 2004; Angelstam et al., 2005). Conditions well above ecological thresholds are sustainable or "healthy" (Haskell et al., 1992), and conditions well below are unsustainable. Thresholds are rarely distinct. Rather they are intervals of change where, for example, a species or function changes from one state to another (Guénette & Villard, 2004). Theoretical studies of landscape patterns have identified critical thresholds in the abundance of particular habitat that produces qualitative differences in habitat connectivity (e.g., Gardner et al., 1987; Pearson et al., 1996) or spatial processes that move across a landscape (e.g., Turner, 1989). Empirical support exists for the presence of critical thresholds in habitat abundance on animal species in terrestrial landscapes (e.g., Andrén, 1994; Angelstam et al., 2004). Whether there are similar thresholds widely applicable to aquatic,

semi-aquatic and riparian fauna remains unknown, possible threshold effects are not mentioned in any of the hierarchical riverine landscape concepts.

To derive performance targets for conservation and restoration, it is important to be aware of the environmental history of human actions and changes in ecosystems. Numerous environmental histories of watersheds are proving valuable because they demonstrate how natural and altered areas function and how they interact with riparian and fish habitats (Sedell & Everest, 1990; Lamberti et al., 1991; Smith, 1993; Sear et al., 1994; Wissmar & Beer, 1994; Reeves et al., 1995). Historical perspectives can also help change society's perception about the degree to which today's stream and fish habitats are similar to historical ones. For example, younger people often tend to believe that what they see now is how it has always been (Wissmar, 1997). This may lead to accepting status quo of environmental conditions and issues as norms, both now and for tomorrow. Hence, a lack of information about historical conditions may perpetuate our unawareness of a continually changing environment (Harding et al., 1998). Retrospective studies and the increased appreciation of past conditions that it brings, together with the analysis of remote reference conditions, are central to improving environmental communication and education (Wissmar, 1997).

3.3 Large woody debris as a functional in-stream structure in small forest streams

The production of fish and benthic fauna in forest streams is naturally based on the riparian supply of organic matter and nutrients from forest habitats in the catchment, and dimensioned by the riparian forest regulation of stream flow, temperature, insolation, and sediment load. Riparian forest also supplies forest streams with large woody debris (LWD), a key structure of stream ecosystems in temperate forested ecoregions (Kail & Hering, 2005).

Several studies have demonstrated the effects of LWD on the habitat and hydrodynamics of forest streams. In-stream structures as LWD can affect channel morphology by flow deflections creating scour pools, decrease distances between pools (Beechie & Sibley, 1997), and increase total pool area (Roni & Quinn, 2001) that occasionally affects sediment and debris deposition (Wallace *et al.*, 1995). This leads to increased nutrient retention in streams (Valett *et al.*, 2002), and further stabilization of stream banks and channels (Tschaplinski & Hartman, 1983), as well as increased habitat diversity (Naiman *et al.*, 1992). LWD influences stream hydrology, hydraulics, sediment budget, morphology and biota across a wide range of spatial and temporal scales (Harmon *et al.*, 1986; Gurnell *et al.*, 1995;

Gregory *et al.*, 2003). Large woody debris is also important for salmonid production, mainly due to increased habitat diversity (Fauch & Northcote, 1992; Flebbe & Dolloff, 1995; Degerman *et al.*, 2004). However, I do not know what the quantities of in-stream structures like LWD or dead wood are in naturally dynamic benchmark ecosystems, nor the extent to which different species are dependent on LWD in streams. A study in Swedish forest streams showed that levels of LWD in undisturbed sites generally was of the same order as in natural forests, and only 10% of Swedish forest streams had this amount of LWD (Degerman *et al.*, 2005).

The amount and quality of LWD in streams in Sweden has not been studied to the same extent as in terrestrial forest systems (Degerman *et al.*, 2004; Dahlström, 2005). Few studies on LWD exist for Scandinavian streams (Bergquist, 1999; Siitonen, 2001). However, there is evidence suggesting relationships between the age of the riparian forests and the amount and quality of LWD in the streams (Enetjärn & Birkö, 1998: Liljaniemi *et al.*, 2002; Lazdinis & Angelstam, 2004; Dahlström & Nilsson, 2006). It has even been suggested that LWD could be an in-stream structure that is limiting trout populations on a large scale in Sweden (Näslund, 1999). In Japan, Inoue and Nakano (1998) noted that the density of Masu salmon (*Onchorhychus masou*) was directly correlated with the amount of woody debris.

Degerman *et al.* (2004, Paper V) show that the occurrence and size of the largest trout were higher at sites with LWD present than at sites without LWD. This indicates that LWD creates a suitable environment for brown trout, probably by providing a station sheltered both from predators and water current (Tschaplinski & Hartman, 1983; Fausch & Northcote, 1992), and possible by creating pools, a habitat that generally holds larger trout than other habitat types (Heggenes, 1988; Näslund *et al.*, 1998).

3.4 Knowledge gaps for applying a hierarchical approach to assess ecological integrity

To date, efforts to restore and protect rivers in a general context have focused primarily on two goals – improving water quality (i.e., water chemistry), and establishing minimum flow requirements so that rivers and streams do not run completely dry (Postell & Richter, 2003). These actions have improved river conditions in many locations. Many fish populations are benefiting from less-polluted, less acidic waters. But the focus on minimum flows and water quality has done too little to restore the functions and processes that sustain the integrity of river systems overall (Postell & Richter, 2003).

The most direct and effective measure of the integrity of a water body is proposed to be the status of its living systems (Karr & Chu, 1999). These systems are the product of millennia of adaptations to climatic, geological, chemical, and biological factors. Their existence integrates everything that has happened where they live, as well as what has happened upstream and upland. During the last decade, scientists have gathered considerable evidence that a river's natural flow regime – its variable pattern of high and low flows throughout the year as well as across many years – exerts great influence on river health (Dynesius & Nilsson, 1994; Poff *et al.*, 1997). Each natural flow component performs valuable work for the system as a whole. Flood flows cue fish to spawn, provides new migration routes, and trigger certain insects to begin a new phase of their life cycle, for example, while very low flows may be critical to the recruitment of riverside (or riparian) vegetation.

Consequently, restoring rivers now under heavy human control requires much more than simply ensuring that water is in the channel or just putting back some stones or spawning gravel. Instead it is necessary to re-create to a sufficient degree the natural flow pattern that drives so many ecological processes and the natural dynamics of rapids and pools. Flow restoration may involve operating dams and reservoirs so as to mimic a river's pre-dam highs and lows. In rivers not yet heavily dammed or controlled, many of which are found in developing countries, the challenge is to preserve enough of the natural flow pattern to maintain ecological functions even while the river is managed for other economic purposes. Problems of past restoration can be attributed to planning and implementing projects that do not meet the fundamental characteristics and definition of restoration – a holistic process aimed at re-establishing ecosystem structure and function. Prior experience indicates a need for broader, catchment-scale restoration (Williams *et al.*, 1997; Rabeni & Sowa, 2002).

Several riverine landscape concepts have pointed out that land-use patterns affect both the form and the function of the rivers throughout the world, yet these effects are little recognized or understood. Still, no one can quantify how a particular land use, or an in-stream structure as LWD, impact stream biota. Apparently there are also severe gaps in understanding and monitoring of the spatial and temporal dynamics in different stream segments within a whole catchment. Yet, there exist some experiences from salmon restoration projects that reveal important insights of a more holistic catchment oriented perspective (Fausch *et al.*, 2002).

By using spatially explicit habitat models (e.g., Scott et al., 2002) based on habitat performance targets for a suite of forest dwelling focal bird species it

has been possible to present assessment of habitat network functionality to forest managers and forest companies concerning the need for conservation and restoration management (*e.g.*, Angelstam *et al.*, 2003a). This has yet to be done for aquatic environments. However, this requires research on how much is enough of different structures and processes at multiple spatial scales to maintain viable populations of species.

4 Methods

4.1 Study areas

To carry out dose-response studies and thus contribute to quantifying the concept of "good ecological status" (Directive, 2000/60/EC) studies were made in Sweden, Poland, Ukraine and Romania at three spatial scales, viz. landscape, riparian zone and in-stream. I used a natural experiment design (sensu Diamond, 1986). Natural experiments differ from field experiments and laboratory experiments in that the experimenter does not establish the perturbation but instead selects sites where the perturbation is already running or has run. The perturbation may have been initiated naturally or by humans other than an experimental ecologist. Along with the experimental sites, the investigation selects control sites so that the two types of sites differ in presence and absence of the perturbation but are as similar as possible in other respects.

In **Papers I, II** and **III,** I use data from 25 individual 2nd and 3rd order streams in Central Europe's Carpathian Mountains. Using topographic maps I selected streams with similar catchment size, stream order and altitude, but with different degrees of naturalness and cultural authenticity. A total of 5 streams were studied in northern Romania and western Ukraine, respectively, and 15 streams in landscapes with different land management histories in southeastern Poland. Streams varied from low gradient, sand and silt, to high-gradient, cobble bottom. The size of these watersheds ranged from 0.5 to 7.8 km².

The freshwater pearl mussel dataset consists of 111 streams with freshwater pearl mussel populations in the County of Västernorrland, central Sweden (**Paper IV**) (method, is described below). Mussel surveys were performed during the period from 1990 to 2004 mainly during the summer months (June-August) by the local County Board. The main method used

for sampling freshwater pearl mussel was on visual search in wadable streams for specimens using a water glass at suitable stream sites (*e.g.*, "*informal sampling*", see Strayer & Smith, 2003), with the ambition to cover the FPM populations distribution within a stream system (SEPA, 2007). The main purpose of this survey method is to monitor eventual change of population size, abundance, and changes in age-/size structure in separate populations of the freshwater pearl mussel (SEPA, 2007).

Data on large woody debris (LWD) and fish in streams were compiled from the Swedish Electrofishing RegiSter (SERS), which is a database with over 10,000 studied sites (**Paper V**). The amount of LWD was quantified at 4,382 forest stream sites. Only sites with riparian forest classified as coniferous, deciduous or mixed forest were included. The sites were located at altitudes of 1-895 m a.s.l. (average 175 m.a.s.l), and distributed all over Sweden.

To operationalise the idea of a landscape approach encompasses entire landscapes as social-ecological system a transdisciplinary hierarchical toolbox for achieving "good ecological status" in riverine landscapes is discussed and problemized in the context of the increasing amount of EU legislations that each member state has to comply with to achieve ecological integrity within catchments (**Paper VI**).

4.2 Land cover composition and macroinvertebrate assemblages (Paper I)

In each of the 25 streams, ten riffle sites (0.04 m^2) over a section at least 50 m long at the lower end of the catchment were examined. To sample invertebrates the substrate was disturbed by a hand brush within the frame of a standard Surber sampler. The specimens were determined to taxonomic order, as it has been suggested that a higher-level taxonomic and ecological structure usually provides a better guideline for classification than primarily focusing on species (Karr & Chu, 1999).

The land cover types in the catchments were determined using field surveys in accordance with the Swedish grassland inventory program and European Common Agricultural Programme (Naturvårdsverket *et al.*, 1996; Ihse & Lindahl, 2000; Statens Jordbruksverk, 2005). These approaches were chosen to assess the cultural authenticity of landscapes dominated by wooded grasslands. The surveys were made in transects 500 m wide and 2000 m long from the bottom of the valleys and up on the valley sides. These surveys covered most of the catchment areas and were used as the basis for the land cover type classification of Landsat imagery (LandsatTM, Path 186, Row 26, 1998-07-31 and LandsatTM, Path 185, Row 27, 1998-08-09). The

catchments were delineated according to topographic maps with a scale of 1:100 000, and the delineations were digitised with ArcGis 8. The total areas as well as the areas of the land cover types within the catchments were then calculated.

The riparian zone was defined as a corridor on both sides adjacent to the stream that includes all bankside and closely surrounding vegetation (Giller and Malmqvist 1998). Two separate widths were used of riparian zone (5 and 30 m) on either side of the stream over a 50 m range along the stream based on recommendations by the Swedish Environmental Protection Agency (SEPA, 2003). The dominant and sub-dominant land types or land use types were classified. If the characteristics of the zones on each side of the stream were very different, or if they were present to the same extent, both types were documented (SEPA, 2003). Also, a narrower riparian zone (0-5 m) was defined as the closest 5-m wide riparian strips on both sides of the stream over a 50 m range along the stream. Riparian vegetation consists of trees, shrubs, tall herbs and other vegetation. If the riparian zone lacked vegetation or included more than 50 % cultivated land, it was classified as "others". Dominating and sub-dominating riparian land cover types and structures were also measured.

In-stream conditions, including the aquatic biotope, were described according to a modified version of SEPA (2003). Measurements were made on water current, bottom substrate (inorganic and organic material) turbidity, shadow, site length, site area, average and maximal depth of the site, stream order, catchment's area, altitude and large woody debris (LWD) and fine woody debris (FWD).

From every stream one grab sample of water, from the midsection of the stream, was collected in a 250-ml plastic bottle prior to collecting biota samples. Conductivity was measured in the field along with temperature. In the laboratory UV/Vis absorbance spectra in the range 190-1100 nm were recorded with a spectrophotometer using a 1 cm quartz cuvette on unfiltered samples and at ambient pH. Absorbance values at 254 nm (ABS254) and 420 nm (ABS420) were used for further data analysis. Alkalinity was measured according to end-point titration with HCl (0.02 M) to pH 5.6 (ISO 1995). Total carbon (TC) and inorganic carbon (IC) concentrations were quantified, and total organic carbon (TOC) was calculated as the difference between TC and IC.

To directly associate taxonomic composition with multivariate environmental gradients, an ordination was performed with Canonical Correspondence Analysis (CCA; ter Braak, 1989). The CCA assumes that the abundance of species is a symmetrical unimodal function of position

along environmental gradients. The selection of environmental variables to be included in the ordination was done using CCA analysis with Monte Carlo simulation. This identifies the variables which contribute most to the variability of the species data and which should therefore be retained in the final CCA. These variables were also used in Principal Components Analysis (PCA) to evaluate correlation with other environmental variables. In the final CCA Monte Carlo randomization was used to break the relationship between the environmental data and the species. The order of samples (sites) in the species array was randomised. By repeating this procedure 10,000 times, calculating the probability that the observed magnitude of the Eigenvalues of each CCA axis was produced by chance. Ecom Software version 3.0 from Pisces was used for CCA, while SPSS (SPSS inc.) version 12 was used for the remaining statistical tests.

4.3 Rapid assessment of macroinvertebrate species richness in second and third order streams (Paper II)

In this study three alternative methods for rapid assessment (Gordon *et al.*, 2004) of macroinvertebrate species richness in running waters were evaluated, focusing on the Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera and Trichoptera orders, which is a group of orders widely used in biomonitoring (Lenat, 1988; Barbour *et al.*, 1999; Sandin & Johnson, 2000). Macroinvertebrate specimen were determined to family, genus and species level, and collected across a gradient of land-use intensity in the Carpathian Mountains to evaluate three shortcuts for surrogates in the assessment of macroinvertebrate species richness in second and third order streams: (1) the use of data in higher taxonomic levels, (2) the use of species-level data from EPT-indicator orders, and (3) the use of abundance data. Finally the relationship between land cover proportion and taxa richness for Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera and Trichoptera was evaluated in order to cast light on the possible drivers of diversity in those orders.

4.4 Plecoptera as a bioindicator for catchment integrity (Paper III)

This study tested if Plecoptera taxa richness and abundance was related to the forest cover of catchments. Reference conditions for the catchment's proportion of forest was established by choosing five catchments located in nature reserves or National Parks representing unaffected or near pristine conditions with high proportions of forest (catchment's forest proportion > 90%). By descriptive statistics estimations of the lower bound within a 95%

confidence interval for mean of Plecoptera taxa and for Plecoptera abundance of individuals was possible. This interval was used as a cut off value, distinguishing areas of higher and lowers ecological integrity. Using binary logistic regression it was possible to test if forest proportion in the catchment could be indicated by Plecoptera taxa or abundance. By using the variables in the equation from the logistic regressions it was possible to formulate thresholds for expected outcomes for catchment's forest proportion associated to the evaluated dependent variable and conductivity.

4.5 Predicting occurrence of viable populations of freshwater pearl mussels, *Margaritifera margaritifera* (L.) (Paper IV)

The hypothesis that it is possible to predict freshwater pearl mussel (FPM) population viability in 111 Swedish streams was tested. By using a combination of data describing land cover and use within the riparian zone covering 50 meters on each side of the streams from their local distribution up to the headwater sections, water chemistry and electrofishing data describing the abundance of host fish species for mussel larvae it was possible to identify a number of key variables for predicting viable populations of the freshwater pearl mussel. The freshwater pearl mussel was also tested for the potential candidate as an indicator species for subtle impacts as land use.

Mussel surveys were performed by the County Administration Board of Västernorrland mainly during the summer months. The main method used for sampling FPM is described in detail in SEPA (2007), and is based on visual search in wadable streams for specimens using a water glass at suitable stream sites (e.g., "informal sampling", see Strayer & Smith, 2003), with the ambition to cover the FPM populations distribution within a stream system. The main purpose of this survey method is to monitor eventual change of population size, abundance, and changes in age-/size structure in separate populations of the freshwater pearl mussel (SEPA, 2007). In the prescribed method the FPM status was ranked according to 6 classes of population structure. This classification, called Mussel status V, has been developed by the County Board of Västernorrland, based on empirical evidence and on earlier studies (Young et al., 2001). For the statistical analysis also a twograded status scale (Mussel status II) was constructed by merging classes 1 and 2 (classified as viable populations) into one class, while classes 3, 4 and 5 (classified as not viable - soon extinct) were merged into a second-class.

Approximately half of the sites (n=58 of 111; 52%) were electrofished by wading using dead current equipment according to Swedish standards (Degerman & Sers, 1999). The investigations were carried out by the

County Board or by the local office of the Swedish Fishery Board in Härnösand. When data from several electrofishing occasions were available, data that closest matched mussel inventory in time and distance (maximum of 5 km) was selected. Being the host species for mussel larvae, the focus was on data concerning brown trout, and the occurrence of yearlings (0+) and older brown trout (> 0+) per 100 m². A calculation of fish abundance was made according to Bohlin *et al.* (1989) for multiple runs and according to Degerman & Sers (1999) when only a single run was carried out.

Water samples for chemical analysis were collected in winter (base flow) and spring (snow melt) as part of the county board's freshwater monitoring program. The variables pH, alkalinity (meq/l), colour (mg Pt/l), conductivity (mS/m), Ca+Mg (meq/l), $P_{_{Tot}}$ (ug/l) and turbidity (Fnu) were measured using standard methods.

Catchment variables such as stream slope at the pearl mussel site (m/km), distance to nearest upstream lake, and estimated area of first nearest upstream lake (> 5 ha) were derived using ArcView 9.2 GIS (Geographical Information System). Catchment land cover was measured in 50-m wide buffers (the riparian zone) upstream the freshwater pearl mussel sites' covering all the upstream reaches in the headwaters. Land use was classified as coniferous, deciduous, and/or young forest, clear-cut, agricultural land, bogs and pastures according to Swedish CORINE Land Cover (SCLC) version 2.3 (European Commission, 1993). All land use variables were expressed as the proportion of the whole riparian buffer zone. Catchment land use classifications were made using GIS-data from 2000, whereas mussel surveys were from 1990-2004, however most land use activities have not been changed.

4.6 Dead wood in Swedish small forest streams (Paper V)

Large Woody Debris (LWD) was defined as having a diameter of 10 cm or more and a length of at least 50 cm. The number of pieces of LWD was counted in the site and presented as pieces of LWD 100 m⁻². The sampling sites were selected in areas with a habitat suitable for spawning and the first years of growth of brown trout. Electrofishing was carried out in August-September by wading, using dead or pulsed dead electric current. The average length of stream sampled was 46.8 m and the average width was 6.8 m. The average sampled stream area was 238 m². Fish were determined to species, and total length of fish individuals was measured. Population densities were estimated according to Bohlin *et al.* (1989) if consecutive runs had been carried out. Otherwise densities were estimated from average catch efficiencies for the species and age group (Degerman & Sers, 1999). The environmental stream variables registered were width, mean depth, maximum depth, and dominating and sub-dominating substrate. The substrate was classified in five categories based on the dominating particle size. Water velocity was classified into three classes at sampling in late summer flow situations. The size of catchments and the proportion of lakes within the catchments were measured on topographic maps.

4.7 Towards a hierarchical toolbox for TerrAquatic perspectives in riverine landscapes (Paper VI)

Sustainable development and biodiversity are two contemporary concepts closely linked to the use and management of natural resources. There is, however, an urgent need to operationalise ecological sustainability and to include this into governance and planning processes at multiple levels and across sectors. Provided that policies are explicit this can be done by (1) translating policy contents to measurable variables and by applying performance targets that define ecological sustainability on the one hand, and (2) to develop local and regional governance arrangements for the maintenance of ecological sustainability in terms of the composition, structure and function of ecosystems on the other (e.g., Törnblom & Angelstam, in press). This requires syntheses of existing experiences and research on how different elements of sustainability can be defined, assessed, integrated and communicated among actors and stakeholders. Important dimensions to consider when designing such accounting systems are (1) the systems of governance and planning, (2) the historical development of landscapes (i.e. social and ecological systems), as well as (3) the type of actors and stakeholders.

It is well established that river ecosystems function at multiple spatial scales (Frisell *et al.*, 1986). Contrary to common belief, landscape scale and not riparian and instream processes is the most important driver of ecosystem structure and function (*e.g.*, Hauer *et al.*, 2003). However, although this understanding is well established in the scientific community, managers seldom incorporate this knowledge in their attempts to conserve or restore lotic systems (*e.g.*, Sabatier *et al.*, 2005a). Indeed, the history of river restoration, as other kinds of ecological restoration, is largely marked by ineffectual attempts directed at the wrong spatial scale (Kershner, 1997). Often, restoration efforts focus on site-specific projects within small areas, or with a single disciplinary focus narrowly defined or confined to a specific species that may be threatened or endangered, or to a species with a sport or commercial interest (Hauer *et al.*, 2003), thus disregarding the important linkages and connectivity between the river and its surrounding landscape.

Accordingly, there is now a recognized need to expand the assessments from the instream environment and the riparian zone, both of which are well studied (*e.g.*, Malanson, 1993; Bergquist, 1999), to the level of riverine landscapes constituted by entire catchments (Wiens, 2002; Sabatier *et al.*, 2005a, b).

Moreover, because landscapes are integrated social-ecological systems (*e.g.*, Berkes *et al.*, 2003) there is a strong need to develop a multi-level toolbox for the social systems' planners, managers and stakeholders that includes all steps in the adaptive governance and management cycle towards policy implementation, including governance, management, and assessment (Meffe *et al.*, 2002; Lazdinis & Angelstam, 2004).

Specifically, a comprehensive tool-box is needed, which can be applied to both ecological and social system dimensions of catchments (Figure 2). This includes systematic analyses of (1) of ecosystems at a variety of temporal and spatial scales from headwater stream segments to lowland river reaches, and from catchments to riverine landscapes and entire drainage basins, and (2) of social systems' actors and stakeholders representing multiple levels of governance and different sectors affecting the state and trends of ecological integrity in catchments.


Figure 2. Illustration showing a simplified policy cycle (see Mayers & Bass, 2004) and the multi-level toolbox presented in paper 6, which concerns both ecological and social dimensions of catchments at multiple scales. Paper 6 presents a hierarchical iterated approach within an adaptive governance and management framework for involving research, synthesis, and public participation in adaptive governance and ecosystem management from headwaters to the sea from sub-catchments to landscapes within drainage basins indicating different levels of ecological integrity, history and socio-cultural perspectives.

5 Results and Discussion

5.1 Paper I

I found clear relationships between four land cover types and the composition of macroinvertebrates. These results suggest a stronger relationship between landscape level characteristics and the in-stream fauna composition, than local riparian or in-stream conditions and the fauna composition. The low taxonomic resolution (order) could be responsible for the fact that only large-scale landscape variables were significantly affecting the taxa composition. With higher taxonomic resolution, the taxa composition would more probably reflect key environmental or biological limiting factors for single species.

Canonical correspondence analysis suggested that variation in taxa assemblage structure was primarily related to four land cover types at the landscape scale. These were the proportions in the catchments of (1) broadleaved forest, (2) fine grained agricultural areas with trees (meaning pre-industrial cultural landscape), (3) mixed forest and (4) natural grassland without trees, respectively (Figure 3). Principal Component Analysis (PCA) indicated that landscape composition and in-stream bottom substrate covaried. There were finer sediments in streams in the open agricultural landscape, and the distribution of fine sediments as a bottom substrate were suggested to depend on the types of anthropogenic activities associated to the open agricultural landscape. The PCA also showed that all studied chemical variables, including organic carbon, had higher values in the agricultural landscape relative to natural forests.



Figure 3. Canonical Correspondence Analysis ordination of nine taxonomic groups on four catchment variables. Plot of the first two significant axises. Vectors (catchment variables) shown as arrows, taxonomic groups or class as squares and sites (1-25) as triangles.

The major source of variation among taxa in the streams was a higher abundance of *Diptera* in agricultural landscapes against *Plecoptera*, *Coleoptera*, *Trichoptera* and *Amphipoda* in forests. *Gastropoda* and *Oligochaeta* were more abundant in open fine-grained agricultural landscapes with trees. *Ephemeroptera* were quite indifferent to these gradients in catchment land cover, but showed a tendency for being more abundant in open landscapes with trees.

The results suggest that the regional natural history and land cover could provide a guide for site classification and for understanding connection between human-induced changes in land use and cover on the one hand, and the distribution of macroinvertebrate assemblages at the level of taxonomic orders on the other. In most landscapes, or catchments, geomorphology determines the soil and availability of ions, and the slope, soil and climate determines the vegetation (Moore *et al.*, 1991; Chipman & Johnson, 2002), which also determines the supply of organic matter together with the soil that influences water chemistry and water inputs to the stream

(Minshall *et al.*, 1985; Naiman *et al.*, 1987). Human activity in the catchment affects streams too, leading to large effects on streams and rivers, sometimes direct and obvious, sometimes more subtle (Giller & Malmqvist, 1998). My results do not contradict this statement. Indeed four land cover variables explained 54.8% of the variation in macroinvertebrate community structure. This leads to the conclusion that I cannot exclude that human land use within the Carpathian catchments is reflected in the in-stream macroinvertebrate distribution. However, it is very possible that a higher taxonomic resolution would provide more detailed information about ecological mechanisms and functionality when species and functional groups are considered as compared with only taxonomic groups. Thus, in order to understand human activities and their more subtle effects on stream biota there are knowledge gaps concerning the effects of composition and structure of land cover types, riparian habitats and in-stream conditions.

5.2 Paper II

Using data from 25 headwater streams in the Carpathian Mountains in Central Europe revealed that the use of the EPT-metric, as an indicator of ecological integrity and diversity, at genus and family levels within macroinvertebrate orders in headwater streams was promising, except for Ephemeroptera. By contrast, species-level data and abundance of individuals from indicator taxa across orders demonstrated that the EPT-group was not promising as indicator for macroinvertebrate richness in general. However, Trichoptera alone was a very good indicator of diversity within the EPTgroup, but also to some extent for all macroinvertebrates. This study demonstrated that correlations for abundance of individuals and species are weaker than correlations between taxa at the genus and family level. There was no significant evidence for usefulness of abundance of EPT-species as a surrogate for species richness, except for Plecoptera and abundance for EPT species richness, and Ephemeroptera for species richness of all macroinvertebrates (Table 1).

Order	Mean (SD)	r _s species richness ¹		
\mathbf{EPT}^{2}				
Species	18.0 (6.5)	-		
Genera	17.2 (5.0)	0.947***		
Families	12.6 (3.7)	0.941***		
Abundance	323.2 (201.7)	0.595**		
Ephemeroptera				
Species	6.4 (2.0)	-		
Genera	5.0 (1.7)	0.922***		
Families	3.2 (1.2)	0.655***		
Abundance	192.7 (136.7)	0.315		
Plecoptera				
Species	5.0 (2.9)	-		
Genera	4.5 (2.5)	0.981***		
Families	3.3 (1.7)	0.896***		
Abundance	63.6 (82.9)	0.867***		
Trichoptera				
Species	6.6 (3.1)	-		
Genera	7.8 (2.4)	0.860***		
Families	6.1 (2.2)	0.925***		
Abundance	67.0 (87.6)	0.256		

Table 1. Relationships between species richness within Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera, and Trichoptera on the one hand, and genus richness, family richness and individual abundance within the respective orders on the other (n = 25).

P-values: ** P < 0.01, *** P < 0.001.

¹ Spearman correlation coefficient for relationship with species richness within the evaluated order (or group thereof).

² Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera, and Trichoptera taken together.

Catchment land cover types as forest proportion was correlated to EPT species richness and family richness, but strongly correlated to Plecoptera taxa richness at species, genus, and family levels, and also to abundance of Plecoptera individuals. The cover of grassland and agriculture proportion was negatively correlated to EPT taxa richness at all taxonomical levels (Table 2). These results raise further questions for conservation of biodiversity issues in the context of reference conditions' concerning how much is enough of anthropogenic disturbance and human development before passing critical thresholds for ecosystem functionality and how the results should be communicated to the different actors of the society in order to make a difference.

* *	Spearman's correlation coefficient		
Order	Forest	Grassland	Agriculture
EPT ³			
Species	0.499*	- 0.162	- 0.550**
Genera	0.380	- 0.090	- 0.499*
Families	0.412*	- 0.068	- 0.585**
Abundance	0.353	- 0.076	- 0.427*
Ephemeroptera			
Species	0.016	0.332	- 0.420*
Genera	0.036	0.206	- 0.355
Families	- 0.425*	0.466*	0.087
Abundance	0.041	0.206	- 0.319
Plecoptera			
Species	0.686***	- 0.537**	- 0.387
Genera	0.615**	- 0.456*	- 0.382
Families	0.614**	- 0.283	- 0.627**
Abundance	0.619**	- 0.274	- 0.609**
Trichoptera			
Species	0.281	- 0.029	- 0.368
Genera	0.142	0.091	- 0.314
Families	0.470*	- 0.173	- 0.552**
Abundance	0.383	- 0.554**	0.035

Table 2. Spearman rank correlation coefficients for the relationships between taxon richness and individual abundance within Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera, and Trichoptera, and the proportions of three main land cover types in Carpathian catchments (n = 25).

P-values: $^{*}P < 0.05 ^{**}P < 0.01$, $^{***}P < 0.001$.

³ Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera, and Trichoptera taken together.

5.3 Paper III

I found evidence for using Plecoptera as an effective bioindicator in headwater catchments for predicting the ecological status associated to terrestrial land cover. Plecoptera abundance and Plecoptera taxa richness were well correlated to each other as well as to catchments' forest proportion in 25 Carpathian headwater streams (Figure 4). Plecoptera taxa richness and abundance of individuals were negatively correlated to catchment area, inorganic carbon, alkalinity and conductivity. I evaluated Plecoptera abundance of individuals considering that counting Plecoptera individuals is easier for non-experts than recognizing different Plecoptera taxa, also abundance gave higher proportion of correct classification.



Figure 4. Pearson correlation of the relationship between Plecoptera taxa richness and Arcsin Forest proportion within 25 Carpathian catchments.

The results suggested that Plecoptera was not only correlated to forest proportion, also chemical constituents seemed important. At a fixed conductivity of 15 mS/m a forest proportion of 79% was the threshold value, separating catchments with a 0.5 probability of finding ≥ 64 Plecoptera individuals per ten Surber samples from catchments with likely fewer Plecoptera (Figure 5).



Figure 5. At Arcsin forest = 0.91 (*e.g.* forest proportion = 0.79, and Arcsin forest 1 \approx 0.85% forest proportion), the probability = 0.51. A minimum of 79% forest proportion leads to the probability that the number of individuals of Plecoptera is 64 individuals per ten Surber samples. A multiple logistic regression using catchment forest proportion and associated conductivity (Z = -1.325 + (4.211 x Arcsin forest proportion) - (0.164 x conductivity)) to predict which streams held high abundance (\geq 64 individuals) of Plecoptera.

I argue that an indicator system well adapted to the EU Water Framework Directive's local water management plans and the general public should build on a suite of species with well-documented indicator and umbrellas value for each stream order type of conservation interest, which

also have a high communication value for improving local participation for restoring ecological integrity in impaired headwater streams.

5.4 Paper IV

The freshwater pearl mussel *Margaritifera margaritifera* (L.) has become scarce and threatened throughout its distribution, and is consequently listed as "vulnerable" by IUCN. The hypothesis was tested that it is possible to predict freshwater pearl mussel population viability (status) from a combination of GIS-data describing land use in the riparian zone, water chemistry and electrofishing data describing the host fish species (brown trout; Salmo trutta) for mussel larvae. The data set covers 111 Swedish boreal catchments.

A good separation between populations could be achieved using only four variables; water colour (during spring flood < 80 mg Pt/l), turbidity (< 1 FNU), phosphorous (< 15 μ g/l), and brown trout abundance (> 5 per 100 m²) as criteria. If all chemical variables were below indicated threshold values and brown trout abundance above the threshold, 79% of mussel populations could be correctly classified (without the aid of statistical procedures).

Turbidity and phosphorous levels were correlated and associated to land use (Figure 6). The suggested mechanism is increased anthropogenic impact within the catchments leading to increased amount of nutrients, organic matter and sediment bed load in the stream substratum (Figure 7). It is suggested that this negatively impacts young mussels, probably by restricting oxygen levels and eventually by decreasing food availability and quality. Streams with upstream lakes held significantly lower levels of turbidity and water colour, lakes thus ameliorated the negative impact of land use in the riparian zone on mussels.





Figure 6. First two axes (components) of PCA on water chemistry, associated lake area and distance to upstream lake and surrounding land cover variables. Axis 1(Component 1) separates between acid/brown coloured streams and alkaline/clear streams (pH/COLOUR). Axis 2 (Component 2) separates between coniferous forest and affected ecosystems (IMPACT).

Using discriminant analysis on yearling brown trout density and land use in the riparian zone 80.4% of populations could be correctly classified as viable or without reproduction (absence of young mussels). The freshwater pearl mussel is evidently an indicator species for landscape composition and catchment land cover in the riparian zone.



Figure 7. Positions along PCA-Component IMPACT (axis 1) distributed on five classes of FPM-status. High mussel status (1) was represented in streams with low impact in the riparian zone (large proportion of coniferous forest and bogs), while low status (5) was represented in streams surrounded by agricultural land, pastures and clear-cuts. Mean and 95 %-confidence interval is shown as dots and box plot interval (n=111).

With the FPM viability as an indicator, complemented with electrofishing on trout, water chemistry and GIS-data it is possible to quantify how large-scale land use impact the FPM, and further the ecological integrity of a stream system. This result also implies that there are needs to start manage and restore FPM-habitats in Swedish streams, not just only by protection and conservation of habitats, segments or reaches of streams. The waters are the mirror of the watershed (Hynes, 1975), and the complex life history of the freshwater pearl mussel makes it sensitive to land use and thus an excellent indicator of the ecological integrity and sustainability of waters affected by human activities. It is suggested that the

thresholds indicated by FPM in this study also applies to other organisms, irrespectively of the presence of freshwater pearl mussels.

5.5 Paper V

Brown trout was the most common fish species in the investigated forest streams in Sweden, occurring in 82% of the sites. The occurrence increased with stream width and the brown trout abundance was highest in the smallest streams. Large Woody Debris (LWD) was present at 73% of sites, and brown trout occurred more frequently at sites with than at sites without LWD. The abundance of trout increased with LWD, and the effect was especially pronounced in sites with more than 4 pieces of LWD 100 m⁻². The abundance of trout increased with increasing amount of LWD up to 8-16 pieces 100m⁻² (Figure 8), and by using the quantity of LWD and stream width, brown trout abundance could be predicted. Maximum size of brown trout caught at each site was correlated with LWD.



Figure 8. Abundance (no. 100 m^{-2}) of brown trout versus quantity of LWD. Bars indicate 95 % confidence intervals.

The largest trout caught averaged 188 mm at sites without LWD and 200 mm at sites with LWD, and this difference was significant. The occurrence and size of the largest trout were higher at sites with LWD present than at sites without LWD. This indicates that LWD creates suitable environments for brown trout by providing a micro habitat sheltered from water current and predators (Tschaplinski & Hartman, 1983; Fauch & Northcote, 1992; Näslund *et al.*, 1998), and possibly by creating pools, a habitat that has larger brown trout than other habitat types (Heggenes, 1988). Increased size, occurrence and abundance of trout with the amount of LWD indicate that suitable sites for foraging and refuges may be limiting factors for brown trout (Bachman, 1984).

In Sweden, for several decades, over 95% of the forested area is managed and subject to clear-felling systems without sound catchment management principles (Eckerberg, 1988). There is a lack of holistic and multidisciplinary perspectives in management of catchments that have been drained and are dominated by conifer re-forestation. There are also obvious gaps in the functionality of managed landscapes where processes like fire and flooding no longer maintain old forest and dead wood (Lazdinis and Angelstam, 2004). Despite the fact that several studies have described forestry's impact on stream ecosystems (Ramberg, 1976; Lynch et al., 1977; Graynoth, 1979; Eckerberg, 1981, Borman & Likens, 1985; Gregory et al., 1987; Chamberlin et al., 1991; Lemley & Hildebrand, 2000), and that protection of riparian zones is of essential importance to fish in rivers and streams, the information has rarely been implemented in practice (Eckerberg, 1988). As a consequence, riparian forests have been harvested and the amount of LWD in the streams has been impoverished. In the present study the median quantity of LWD was 1 piece 100m⁻². This result can be compared to North American studies on streams with pristine conditions where the measured density of LWD 100m⁻² varied between 30 and 1700 (Bilby & Ward, 1989; Murphy & Koski, 1989; Fausch & Northcote, 1992; Ralph et al., 1994; Flebbe & Dolloff, 1995). However, I do not know what the quantities of LWD of dead wood are in naturally dynamic benchmark ecosystems, nor the extent to which brown trout indicates other elements of biodiversity in small rivers.

5.6 Paper VI

implement the EU Water Framework Directive's (Directive, То 2000/60/EC) vision of reaching "good ecological status", actors and stakeholders at multiple levels representing different sectors involved with catchment management need to be equipped with appropriate knowledge as well as practical and reliable tools for on-the-ground policy implementation in social-ecological systems. Based on the ecological integrity concept and inspired by top-down hierarchical forest sector planning, and collaborative and communicative bottom-up participatory approaches (Fainstein, 2000; Lazdinis & Angelstam, 2004; Angelstam et al., 2005b; Tress et al., 2006; Angelstam & Elbakidze, 2007; Wu & Hobbs, 2007), I present a step-wise iterated approach to support the implementation of good ecological status of riverine landscapes. This is consistent with a proactive adaptive governance and management cycle (Mayers & Bass, 2004; Angelstam & Törnblom, 2004; Angelstam et al., 2005b; Angelstam & Elbakidze, 2007) approaches that link policy, management, monitoring and assessment in iterated cycles within entire catchments. At the strategic level, regional quantitative gap analysis is a tool for assessing the extent to which ecological integrity is maintained by appropriate combination of protection, management and restoration of representative habitat types in an ecoregion. At the tactical level, a tool is Habitat Suitability Index (HSI) spatial modeling, which combines quantitative knowledge about focal species' requirements and the spatial distribution of resources into maps for visualization and scenario building. This allows both for assessment and subsequent spatial planning at different scales and time horizons. These two steps guide the management operations needed for the protection, maintenance and restoration at instream, riparian and landscape scales. There is, however, a scale mismatch between the need for this kind of systematic approach and reality. (Folke, 2002; Małgorzata, 2008) Thus monitoring programs and performance target need to be assessed, and tools for proper assessment, governance and management towards ecological integrity by various formal and informal organizations be developed.

Finally, adaptive governance and management need to be developed using participatory approaches that include relevant actors and stakeholders and enhance communication and collaboration. To fill knowledge gaps about performance targets and tools for governance applied interdisciplinary research is needed, which must become systematic in two dimensions. First,

comparisons of reference landscapes with ecological integrity should be compared with altered systems to determine how much are enough of different structures and processes to secure viable populations of species used as indicators, and thus operationalise the terms "good ecological status" and "ecological integrity". Second, the idea that analytic deliberation, nested institutions and institutional variety open up for continuous experimentation, learning and change in society needs to be evaluated by studies of local and regional governance arrangements' ability to deliver good ecological status (Malgorzata, 2008).

5.7 Sustainable landscapes and catchments?

The widely accepted definition of sustainable development is that it is a development that meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs (WCED, 1987). Sustainable development as a concept has been criticized for undermining the substance in environmental issues by removing the focus from the ecological conditions in landscapes and catchments to more general and pluralistic conditions within the whole society that ends up in involving everything concerning politics and society. Values vary greatly in detail within and between cultures, actors from different sectors, as well as between academic disciplines (e.g., between constructivist sociologists, neoclassical economists and ecologists) (Tisdell, 1988; Daly & Farley, 2004). The introduction of social values to sustainability goals implies a much more complex and contentious debate, and those focused on ecological impacts tend to strongly resist non-ecological interpretations. However, the concept of sustainable development in Sweden has changed from an ecological perspective to a more general focus on economical and social perspectives. This means that the connection between sustainable development and environmental politics has become weaker (Lundqvist & Carlsson, 2004). Sustainable development tends to be an "umbrella concept" for a holistic vision for a future welfare society and the emphasis is focused on the process of the framework involving economical development, social welfare, cooperation, good environment, democracy and participation, health and equity in a general sense (Lundqvist & Carlsson, 2004). Ellen Wohl (2001) put out the question if it is feasible to save a species without saving the ecosystem in which that species evolved, in the context of the historical degradation of rivers and associated restoration efforts. Törnblom & Angelstam (in press) put out the question if it is feasible to talk about

sustainable development when society at the same time is loosing vital ecosystems and viable populations.

5.8 Towards systematic assessments of ecological integrity

Today, no ecosystems are completely free from human impact. However, the degree of alteration varies widely. Sparsely settled mountain areas give an impression of wild, untouched, and unchanging nature. Yet, in many cases Mountain Rivers that appear to be pristine natural systems actually have been impaired as a result of historical human activities (Harding *et al.*, 1998; Wohl, 2001). Also, Wohl (2001) underscores the importance of distinguishing between the form, or the physical appearance, of a river and its function, which encompasses physical and chemical processes as well as biological communities associated to the river. Land-use patterns affect both the form and the function of the rivers throughout the world, yet these effects are still little recognized or understood.

A major problem in assessing the impact of catchment land-use on aquatic ecosystems is often the lack of reliable reference conditions that represent ecological integrity (Hynes, 1970; Liljaniemi et al., 2002; Stoddard et al., 2006), and appropriate performance targets based on the contents of legislative mandates and policy documents as the European Water Framework Directive (Stoddard et al., 2006). In Western Europe and North America it is difficult to find catchments in such a natural state that they could be used as a reference for comparisons with variously affected catchments (Benke, 1990; Zwick, 1992; Muhar et al., 1995). In the absence of totally natural benchmarks, one can use landscapes characterized by nearnatural conditions as the best available reference or as described by Stoddard et al. (2006) as reference conditions for biological integrity. Such catchments can be found in remote areas of the former Soviet Union (e.g., Kola Peninsula, Kamchatka) and in Canada and Alaska. These reference areas and catchments can be used to build systematic suites of landscape-scale and watershed-scale Habitat Suitability Index models (e.g., Verner et al., 1986; Scott et al., 2002). The resulting thematic maps provide management guidelines to identify different variables, species and parameter values for the assessment, planning and management of the habitat networks at different spatial and temporal scales.

6 Further research needs

6.1 Focal species as indicators and communication tools

The studies presented in this thesis suggest that management of catchments' land use and cover, riparian composition as well as in-stream structures such as large woody debris (LWD), are needed for future conservation and restoration efforts towards ecological integrity. This conclusion is by no means new, but this thesis hopefully provides a new approach towards the understanding of ecological integrity of streams. Evidence was collected and presented supporting the hypothesis that landscape characteristics, relative to instream and riparian features, are far more important for benthic assemblages than previously understood. It is also evident that other aspects of stream ecosystems must be interpreted in a landscape perspective. This is definitely significant new information that, in turn, leads to new challenges. Streams have to be monitored in a broader and probably more comprehensive way.

From a management perspective, the suggestions on how to implement the landscape approach into the EU Water Framework Directive in Sweden and working procedures as well as methods have not yet been determined. This opens for the introduction of new knowledge, and new ways of producing knowledge, into the governance and management processes. Particularly interesting is the knowledge which is science-based but still practical enough for direct implementation in the management. In this way this thesis will be useful and beneficial for the development of future stream management. This thesis focuses on stream macroinvertebrate composition and distribution, viable freshwater pearl mussel populations, brown trout abundance in multiple spatial and temporal scales from the headwaters to the sea. I encourage others to replicate this approach for other species, and evaluate their functionality as focal species.

While previous studies have for some time pointed out the importance of in-stream conditions, riparian composition and landscape scale factors, still, very few studies have provided performance targets or new insights concerning thresholds for "how much is enough" of habitat within the different scales of a riverine landscape or a catchment. It is also necessary to evaluate the processes that affect the composition and structure of ecosystems (Noss, 1990; Angelstam & Kuuluvainen, 2004). This is stressed by the concept of ecological integrity (Piementel et al., 2000; Norton, 2003). According to Karr & Chu (1999) biological integrity applies to sites at one end of a continuum of human influence, i.e. those supporting a biota that is the product of evolutionary and biogeographic processes. Frey (1977) described biological integrity as a "community of organisms having a species composition, diversity and functional organization comparable to those of natural habitats within a region". Adopting integrity as a management goal means aiming for a system that resembles this evolved state as much as possible (Angermeier, 1997).

Selecting a suite of focal species that can be used to derive performance targets at multiple spatial scales is a major challenge. Using the Baltic Sea region as an example, policies such as EC Habitat Directive (Anon., 1992) represent a first attempt of selecting prospective focal species for assessment of habitat networks. The species mentioned in the Annex 2 of the Directive and in the Natura 2000 network shall be the subject of special conservation measures concerning their habitat in order to ensure their survival and reproduction (*e.g.*, Cederberg & Löfroth, 2000). A first step in the selection process for riparian and aquatic systems could be to exclude from the species listed: 1) species that are dependent on other landscapes than rivers, streams, lakes, ponds, oxbows or riparian zones, and 2) species that could be hard to recognize or by deficits in knowledge, 3) species that have area requirements and use complex mosaic landscapes that are difficult to describe using simple land cover data.

Secondly, it should be checked whether or not the species selected from the EC Habitat Directive provide good coverage for the different spatial scales within a watershed and the ecoregions in the Baltic Sea region. Here, already collected monitoring data could be used to compare fish populations in different stream orders with associated land cover data sets covering tree species composition, age distribution, forestry intensity, fragmentation effects of riparian zones and streams. To test the hypothesis that there are nonlinear responses of species in relation to structures and processes, several types of data sets could be used. These include (1) studies of different stream

orders within catchments in the same biogeographical region, (2) evaluate riverine landscape reference conditions for catchments, and (3) combine existing monitoring programmes with the Swedish Electrofishing RegiSter (SERS) database of the National Board of Fisheries. The ambition would be to propose and evaluate the usefulness of potential indicator species identified in step two for different stream orders (spatial scales) within catchments that could reduce the costs for expensive and ineffective monitoring programs in aquatic environments.

Knowing what species require at multiple spatial and temporal scales is a necessary but not sufficient criterion for developing a systematic approach towards restoring the integrity of riverine landscapes. In addition, the knowledge must be in the right place, with the actors exercising governance as well as planners and managers. Communication with and among forest and river managers on the complex and often abstract criteria for selection of individual areas or stream reaches to be part of a functional habitat network could be alleviated if the principles were dressed in simple words (Uliczka et al., 2004). A set of specialized species and their habitat requirements should therefore be scientifically evaluated before any recommendations as an operative planning tool. For example, many animals range over spatial scales compatible with those of forest and river management. In particular, fishes and mammals represent two well-studied taxonomic groups of animals. Many fishes and mammals are also well known by managers and some even function as flagship species, i.e. species useful for stimulating public interest in conservation (Simberloff, 1998) and sustainable use.

6.2 Linking ecosystems and institutions

Ideally, a combined terrestrial and aquatic ("TerrAquatic") approach should help societal actors and stakeholders to manage watersheds and landscapes in a more cost-effective way by adapting both terrestrial and aquatic perspectives at the same time, instead of today's scenarios with many separating activities of different sectors and actors that overlap in a geographical area. A TerrAquatic Gap Analysis (TAGA) approach should also evaluate monitoring programs, contribute to novel knowledge production and propose new perspectives and tools for governance, management and assessment of ecological integrity by various formal and informal institutions at multiple temporal and spatial scales (Angelstam *et al.*, 2003b; Lazdinis & Angelstam, 2004). There is, thus, an obvious need for transdisciplinary work in the context of (1) cycles of iterated environmental assessment of the degree to which short-term precondition for program

success, and (2) policy cycles reflecting the long-term goals (generation objectives).

Such short- and long-term cycles of assessment requires integration of: (i) statistical methodology to increase the efficiency in the gathering of data, (ii) statistical methodology to analyse data, for example to separate variation due to human impact in nature from variation due to natural fluctuations, (iii) knowledge regarding obstacles and possibilities regarding communication between actors at different levels and for different kinds of institutions (formal and informal) involved in the implementation of measures in order to achieve the national environmental goals, (iv) way of analyzing how policies and guidelines are implemented, and (v) devising methods to integrate different dimensions of ecological sustainability.

A major challenge for applied research is to develop a balance between (1) how to translate to planners and managers results of assessments using narratives that convey the status and trend of a particular variable, and (2) how much simplification is possible within data and the messenger before losing the messengers expert credibility. I presume that this balance is different for different types of actors that are assumed to act upon the monitoring results (Angelstam & Törnblom, 2004).

Empirical support exists for the effects of critical thresholds in habitat abundance on animal populations in terrestrial landscapes (Andrén, 1994; Angelstam *et al.*, 2004). Similar thresholds seem to occur in aquatic landscapes, such as for dead wood and brown trout (Degerman *et al.*, 2004), or the percentage land cover of a certain land use within catchments for Plecoptera (Paper III). So far, however, there are too few studies available to support the formulation of performance targets for the conservation of aquatic biodiversity.

6.3 Conclusions

Based on the ecological integrity concept, and inspired by top-down hierarchical forest sector planning on the one hand, and collaborative and communicative bottom-up participatory approaches on the other, this thesis proposes a step-wise iterated approach to support the implementation of policies about good ecological status of riverine landscapes. This is consistent with proactive adaptive governance and management cycle approaches that link policy, management, monitoring and assessment in iterated cycles within entire catchments. At the first strategic level, regional quantitative gap analysis is a tool for assessing the extent to which ecological integrity is maintained by appropriate combination of protection, management and restoration of representative habitat types in an ecoregion. A second tactical level tool is Habitat Suitability Index (HSI) spatial modeling that combine quantitative knowledge about focal species' requirements and the spatial distribution of resources into maps for visualization and scenario building. This allows both for assessment and subsequent spatial planning at different scales and time horizons. These two steps guide the management operations needed for the protection, maintenance and restoration at instream, riparian and landscape scales. There is, however, a scale mismatch between the need for this kind of systematic approach and reality. Thus monitoring programs and performance target need to be assessed, and tools for proper assessment, governance and management towards ecological integrity by various formal and informal organizations be developed.

Finally, adaptive governance and management need to be developed using participatory approaches that include relevant actors and stakeholders become understood and accepted. This requires enhanced to communication and collaboration. To fill knowledge gaps about performance targets and tools for governance applied interdisciplinary research is needed, which must become systematic in two dimensions. First, comparisons of reference landscapes with ecological integrity should be compared with altered systems to determine how much are enough of different structures and processes to secure viable populations of species used as indicators, and thus operationalise the terms "good ecological status" and "ecological integrity". Second, the idea that analytic deliberation, nested institutions and institutional variety open up for continuous experimentation, learning and change in society needs to be evaluated by studies of local and regional governance arrangements' ability to deliver good ecological status. Even if it is difficult, time consuming and sometimes unrewarding, I hope this thesis will encourage others to employ a transdisciplinary approach!

References

- Andrén, H. (1994). Effects of habitat fragmentation on birds and mammals in landscapes with different proportions of suitable habitat. Oikos 71, 355–366.
- Angelstam, P. & Elbakidze, M. (2007). Learning for sustainable forest management: actors' perceptions and regional needs in the Russian Federation's northwest. Report for Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency (SIDA) and the Swedish Forest Agency. 107 pp.
- Angelstam, P. (2006). Maintaining cultural and natural biodiversity in Europe's economic centre and periphery. In: M. Agnoletti (ed). The conservation of cultural landscapes. CAB International, 125-143.
- Angelstam, P., Bermanis, R., Ek, T. & Sica, L. (2006). Maintaining forest biodiversity in Latvia's forests – are there gaps in the amount of different forest vegetation types? Latvian Forest Service and the Latvian State Forests, Riga.
- Angelstam, P., Bütler, R., Lazdinis, M., Mikusinski, G., Roberge, J.-M. (2003a). Habitat thresholds for focal species at multiple scales and forest biodiversity conservation – dead wood as an example. *Annales Zoologici Fennici* 40, 473-482.
- Angelstam, P., Mikusinski, G., Rönnbäck, B.-I., Östman, A., Lazdinis, M., Roberge, J.-M., Arnberg, W., Olsson, J. (2003b). Two-dimensional gap analysis: a tool for efficient conservation planning and biodiversity policy implementation. *Ambio* 33, 527-534.
- Angelstam, P., Dönz-Breuss, M., Roberge, J.-M (eds) (2004). Targets and tools for the maintenance of forest biodiversity. Ecological Bulletins 51, 510 pp.
- Angelstam, P. & Kuuluvainen, T. (2004). Borel forest disturbance regimes, successional dynamics and landscape structures a European perspective. *Ecological Bulletins* 51, 117-136.
- Angelstam, P. & Törnblom, J. (2004). Maintaining forest biodiversity in actual landscapes European gradients in history and governance systems as a "landscape lab". *In:* M. Marchetti (ed) *Monitoring and indicators of forest biodiversity in Europe – from ideas to operationality.* EFI symposium No. 51, pp. 299–313.
- Angelstam, P., Törnblom J., Degerman, E., Henrikson, L., Jougda, L., Lazdinis, M.,
 Malmgren, J.C., Myhrman, L. (2005a). From forest patches to functional habitat networks
 the need for holistic understanding of ecological systems at the landscape scale. *In*: R.

Davison & C.A. (eds) Galbraith Farming, Forestry and the Natural Heritage: Towards a More Integrated Future. Scottish Natural Heritage. pp.193-209.

- Angelstam, P., Kopylova, E., Korn, H., Lazdinis, M., Sayer, J.A., Teplyakov, V. & Törnblom, J. (2005b). Changing forest values in Europé. *In*: J.A. Sayer & S. Maginnis (eds) *Forests in landscapes*. Ecosystem approaches to sustainability. Earthscan. pp. 59-74.
- Angelstam, P. & Andersson, L. (2001). Estimates of the needs for nature reserves in Sweden. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Supplement 3, 38-51.
- Angermeier, P.L. 1997. Conceptual roles of biological integrity and diversity. *In*: J.E. Williams, C.A. Wood & M.P. Dombeck (eds) *Watershed restoration: principles and practices*. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, MD. pp. 49-65.
- Angermeier, P.L. & Karr, J.R. (1994). Biological integrity versus biological diversity as policy directives. *Bioscience* 44, 690-697.
- Anon. (1992). Council directive 79/43/EEC of 21 May 1992 on the conservation of natural habitats and wild fauna and flora. Council of the European Communities. Brussels, Belgium. 57pp.
- Bachman, R.A. (1984). Foraging behaviour of free-ranging wild and hatchery brown trout in a stream. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* 113, 1-32.
- Barbour, M.T., Gerritsen, J., Snyder, B.D. & Stribling, J.B. (1999). Rapid bioassessment protocols for use in streams and wadeable rivers: periphyton, benthic macroinvertebrates and fish. Second Edition. EPA/841-B-98-010. U.S. EPA, Office of Water, Washington, DC, 344 pp. (Available from: http://www.epa.gov/owow/monitoring/rbp/).
- Bauer, S.B. & Ralph, S.C. (1999). Aquatic habitat indicators and their applications to water quality objectives within the clean water act. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Region 10. EPA Technical Report EPA-910-R-99-104. Seattle, Washington.
- Beechie, T.J. & Sibley, T.H. (1997). Relationships between channel characteristics, woody debris, and fish habitat in northwestern Washington streams. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* 126, 217-229.
- Beechie, T.E. & Bolton, S. (1999). An approach to restoring salmonid habitat-forming processes in Pacific Northwest watersheds. *Fisheries* 24, 6-15.
- Benda, L.E., Miller, D.J., Dunne, T., Reeves, G.H., & Agee, J.K. (1998). Dynamic landscape systems. In: R.J. Naiman & R. E. Bilby (eds) River ecology management: lessons from the Pacific Northwest. Springer, New York. pp. 261–288.
- Benke, A.C. (1990). A perspective on America's vanishing streams. Journal of North American benthological Society 9, 77–88.
- Bergquist, B. (1999). Påverkan och skyddszoner vid vattendrag i skogs- och jordbrukslandskapet. En litteraturöversikt. Fiskeriverket Rapport 3, 5-118 in Swedish.
- Berkes, F. et al. (2003). Navigating social-ecological systems. Cambridge University Press.
- Bilby, R.E. & Ward, J.W. (1989). Changes in characteristics and function of woody debris with increasing size of streams in western Washington. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* 118, 368–378.
- Bohlin, T., Hamrin, S., Heggberget, T.G., Rasmussen, G. & Saltveit, S.J. (1989). Electrofishing – theory and practice with special emphasis on salmonids. *Hydrobiologia* 173, 9-43.



- Borman, F.H. & Likens, G.E. (1985). Air and watershed management and the aquatic ecosystem. *In*: G.E. Likens (ed) *An ecosystem approach to aquatic ecology*. Springer Verlag, New York. pp. 436-444.
- Carlson, A. (2000). The effect of habitat loss on a deciduous forest specialist species: the white-backed woodpecker (Dendrocopos leucotos). *Forest Ecology and Management* 131, 215-221.
- Cederberg, B. & Löfroth, M. (eds) (2000). Svenska djur och växter i det europeiska nätvereket Natura 2000. (Swedish animals and plants in the European network Natura 2000). ArtDatabanken, SLU, Uppsala.
- Chamberlin, T.W., Harr, R.D., Everest, F.H. (1991). Timber harvesting, silviculture, and watershed processes. In: W. R. Meehan (ed) Influences of forest and rangeland management on salmonids fishes and their habitats. American Fisheries Society Special Publication 19, Bethesda, Maryland. pp. 181-205.
- Chipman, S.J. & Johnson, E.A. (2002). Understory vascular plant species diversity in mixedwood boreal forest of western Canada. *Ecological Applications* 12, 588-601.
- Clark, T.W., Curlee, A.P. & Reading, R.P. (1996). Crafting effective solutions to the large carnivore conservation problem. *Conservation Biology* 10, 940-948.
- Costanza, R. (1991). Ecological economics: the science and management of sustainability. Colombia University Press, New York.
- Cummins, K.W. (1973). Trophic relations of aquatic insects. *Annual Review of Entomology* 18, 183-205.
- Cummins, K.W. & Merrit, R.W. (1996). General morphology of aquatic insects. *In*: R.W Merrit & K.W. Cummins (eds) *An introduction of to the aquatic insects of North America*. Kendall/Hunt, Dubuque, IA. pp. 5-11.
- Dahlström, Niklas (2005). Function and dynamics of woody debris in boreal forest streams. Doctoral dissertation at Umeå University. Department of Ecology and Environmental Science. Umeå, Sweden.
- Dahlström, N. & Nilsson, C. (2006). The dynamics of coarse woody debris in boreal Swedish forests are similar between stream channels and adjacent riparian forests. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* 36, 1139–1148.
- Daly, H.E. & Farley, J. (2004). Ecological economics. Principles and applications. Island Press
- Degerman, E. & Sers, B. (1999). Fiskeriverket Information 3, in Swedish. *Code of practice for electric fishing in Sweden*
- Degerman, E., Sers, B., Törnblom, J., Angelstam, P. (2004). Large woody debris and brown trout in small forest streams – towards targets for assessment and management of riparian landscapes. *Ecological Bulletins* 51, 233–239.
- Degerman, E., Halldén, A. & Törnblom, J. (2005). Död ved i vattendrag effekten av skogsålder och naturlig skyddszon. WWF Levande skogsvatten, 20 pp. In Swedish.
- Diamond, J. (1986). Overwiew: Laboratory Experiments, Field Experiments, and Natural Experiments. In: J.M. Diamond &T.J. Case (eds) Community Ecology. Harper & Row. pp. 3-22.
- Directive, (2000/60/EC) of the European parliament and of the council of 23rd October 2000. Establishing a framework for community action in the field of water policy.

- Dobson, A., Lodge, D., Alder, J., Cumming, G.S., Keymer, J., McGlade, J., Mooney, H., Rusak, J.A., Sala, O., Wolters, V., Wall, D., Winfree, R. & Marguerite A. Xenopoulos, M.A. (2006). Habitat loss, trophic collapse, and the decline of ecosystem services. *Ecology* 87, 1915–1924.
- Dynesius, M. & Nilsson, C. (1994). Fragmentation and flow regulations of river systems in the northern third of the world. *Science* 266, 753-62.
- Eckerberg, K. (1981). Skogsbrukets inverkan på yt-och grundvatten sammanställning och utvärdering av befintlig kunskap 1980. Naturvårdsverket Rapport, SNV PM 1373. 67p. In Swedish.
- Eckerberg, K. (1988). Clear felling and environmental protection: results from an investigation in Swedish forests. *Journal of Environmental Management* 27, 237-256.
- Enetjärn, A. & Birkö, T. (1998). Vodlozersky nationalpark. A field trip. *Kommunbiologer i norr*. In Swedish.
- Eriksson, T. & Nyberg, P. (2001). *SILVA-Skyddsridåer längs vattendrag*. Slutrapport. Fiskeriverket Informerar nr 6, 69 pp. In Swedish.
- European Commission (1993). *Nomenclature for CORINE Land Cover*, Swedish CORINE Land Cover (SCLC) version 2.3.
- Fainstein, S.S. (2000). New directions in planning theory. Urban Affairs Review 35, 451-478.
- Farrington, J., Turton, C., James, A.J (eds) (1999). Participatory watershed development: challenges for the twenty-first century. Oxford university press, New Delhi.
- Fauch, K.D. & Northcote, T.G. (1992). Large woody debris and salmonids habitat in small coastal British Columbia stream. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Science* 49, 682– 693.
- Fauch, K.D., Torgersen, C.E., Baxter, C.V., Li, H.W. (2002). Landscapes to riverscapes: bridging the gap between research and conservation of stream fishes. *Bioscience* 52, 483-498.
- Flebbe, P.A. & Dolloff, C.A. (1995). Trout use of woody debris and habitat in Appalachian wilderness streams of North Carolina. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 15, 579-590.
- Folke, C., Holling, C.S. & Perrings, C. (1996). Biological Diversity, Ecosystems, and the Human Scale. *Ecological Applications* 6, 1018-1024.
- Folke, C. (2002). Social-ecological resilience and behavioural responses. The International Beijer Institute of Ecological Economics – The Royal Swedish Academy of Sciences. Discussion Paper 155.
- Forman, R.T.T. (1981). Interactions among landscape elements: A core of landscape ecology. In: Perspectives in Landscape Ecology: Proceedings of the International Congres of Landscape Ecology, Veldhoven. Pudoc Publishers, Wageningen, The Netherlands. pp.35-48.
- Forman, R.T.T. & Gordon, M. (1981). Patches and Structural Components for a Landscape Ecology. *BioScience* 31, 733-740.
- Frey, D.G. (1977). Biological integrity of water a historical approach. In: Ballentine, R.K. & Guarria, L.J. (eds) *The integrity of water: Proceedings from a symposium*. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington D.C., USA. pp. 127-140.

- Frisell, C.A., Liss, W.L., Warren, C.E. & Hurley, M.D. (1986). A hierarchical framework for stream habitat classification: viewing streams in a watershed context. *Environmental Management* 10, 199-214.
- Gardner, R.H., Milne, B.T., Turner, M.G. & O'Neill, R.V. (1987). Neutral models for the analysis of broad-scale landscape patterns. *Landscape Ecology* 1, 19-28.
- Giller, P.S. & Malmqvist, B. (1998). *The biology of Streams and Rivers*. Oxford University Press.
- Graynoth, E. (1979). Effects of logging on stream environments and faunas in Nelson. *New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research* 13, 79-109.
- Gregory, S.V., Lamberti, G.A., Erman, D.C., Koski, K.V., Murphy, M.L., Sedell, J.R. (1987). Influence of forest practices on acquatic production. *In*: E.O. Salo & T.W. Cundy (eds) *Streamside management: Forestry and fishery interactions*. University of Washington, Institution of Forest Resource Control. pp. 233–255.
- Gregory, S.V., Boyer, K.L. & Gurnell, A.M. (eds) (2003). The Ecology and Management of Wood in World Rivers. American Fisheries Society, Symposium 37, Bethesda, Maryland, 431 pp.
- Guénette, J.-S. & Villard, M.-A. (2004). Do empirical thresholds truly reflect species tolerance to habitat alteration? *Ecological Bulletins* 51, 163-171.
- Gurnell, A.M., Gregory, K.J. & Petts, G.E. (1995). Case studies and reviews: The role of coarse woody debris in forest aquatic habitats: implications for management. *Aquatic Conservation of Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems* 5, 143-166.
- Hansson, L. (1977). Spatial Dynamics of Field Voles Microtus agrestis in Heterogeneous Landscapes. *Oikos* 29, 539-544.
- Harding, J.S., Benfield, E.F., Bolstad, P.V., Helfman, G.F., Jones, E.B.D. (1998). Stream biodiversity: the ghost of land use past. In: *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 95, 14843-14847.
- Harmon, M.E., Franklin, J.F., Swanson, F.J., Sollins, P., Gregory, S.V., Lattin, J.D.,
 Anderson, N.H., Cline, S.P., Aumen, N.G., Sedell, J.R., Liendaemper, G.W., Cromack,
 K., Kummins, K.W. (1986). Ecology of coarse woody debris in temperate ecosystems.
 Advances in Ecological Research 15, 133-302.
- Haskell, B.D., Norton, B.G. & Costanza, R. (1992). What is ecosystem health, and why should we worry about it? In: R. Costanza, B.G. Norton & B.D. Haskell (eds) Ecosystem health: new goals for environmental management. Island Press, Washington, DC. pp. 3-20.
- Hauer, F.R. Dahm, C.N., Lamberti, G.A. & Stanford, J.A. (2003). Landscapes and Ecological Variability of Rivers in North America: Factors Affecting Restoration Strategies. In: R.C. Wissmar & P. A. Bisson (eds) Strategies for Restoring River Ecosystems: Sources of Variability and Uncertainty in Natural and Managed Systems. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, Maryland. pp. 81-105.
- Heggenes, J. (1988). Effect of experimentally increased intraspecific competition on sedentary adult brown trout (Salmo trutta) movement and stream habitat choice. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Science* 45, 1163-1172.
- Huet, M. (1954). Biologie, profils en long et en travers des eaux courantes. Bulletin Français de Pisciculture 175, 41-53.

- Hynes, H.B.N. (1970). *The Ecology of Running Waters*. University of Liverpool Press, Liverpool, UK.
- Hynes, H.B.N. (1975). The stream and its valley. Verhandlungen Internationale Vereinigung für Theoretische und Angewandte Limnologie 19, 1-15.
- Ihse, M. & Lindahl, C. (2000). A holistic model for landscape ecology in practice: the Swedish survey and management of ancient meadows and pastures. *Landscape and Urban Planning* 50, p. 59.
- Illies, J. & Botosaneanu, L. (1963). Problèmes et méthodes de la classification et de la zonation écologiques des eaux courantes, considérées surtout du point de vue faunistique. *Mitteilungen Internationale Vereinigung Limnologie* 12, 1-57.

Innes, J.L., Hickey, G.M. & Hoen, H.F. (2005). Forestry and Environmental Change: socioeconomic and political dimensions. CABI Publishing, Wallingford.

- Inoue, M. & Nakano, S. (1998). Effects of woody debris on the habitat of juvenile Masu salmon (Oncorhynchus masou) in northern Japanese streams. *Freshwater Biology* 40, 1-16.
- Junk, J.W., Bayley, P.B. & Sparks, R.E. (1989). The flood pulse concept in river-floodplain systems. In: Dodge, D.P (ed): Proceedings of the International Large River Symposium. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences Special Publication no. 106. pp. 110-127.
- Kail. J. & Hering, D. (2005). Using large wood to restore streams in Central Europé: potential use and likely effects. *Landscape Ecology* 20, 755-772.
- Karr, J.R. (1991). Biological integrity: A long-neglected aspect of water resource management. *Ecological Applications* 1, 66–84.
- Karr, J.R. & Chu, E.W. (1999). Restoring life in running waters: better biological monitoring. Island Press.
- Kershner, J.L. (1997). Monitoring and adaptive management. In: J.E. Williams, C.A. Wood & M.P. Dombeck (eds) Watershed restoration: priciples and practices. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, Maryland. pp. 116-131.
- Kuemmerle, T., Radeloff, V.C., Perzanowski, K., Hostert, P. (2006). Cross-border comparison of land cover and landscape pattern in Eastern Europe using hybrid classification technique. *Remote Sensing of Environment* 103, 449-464.
- Lamberti, G.A., Gregory, S.V., Ashkenas, L.R. Wildman, R.C. & More, K.M.S. (1991). Stream ecosystem recovery following a catastrophic debris flow. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 48, 196–208.
- Larsson, T.-B. (ed) (2001). Biodiversity evaluation tools for European forest. *Ecological Bulletins*, 50.
- Lazdinis, M. & Angelstam, P. (2004). Connecting social and ecological systems: an integrated toolbox for hierarchical evaluation of biodiversity policy implementation. *Ecological Bulletins* 51, 385-400.
- Lee, K.N. (1993). Compass and gyroscope: integrating science and politics for the environment. Island Press, Washington, D.C.
- Lemley, A.D. & Hildebrand, R.H. (2000). Influence of large woody debris on stream insect communities and benthic detritus. *Hydrobiologia* 421, 179–185.
- Lenat, D.R. (1988). Water quality assessment of streams using a qualitative collection method for benthic macroinvertebrates. *Journal of North American Benthological Society* 7, 222–233.



- Liljaniemi, P., Vuori, K.-M., Ilyashuk, B. & Luotonen, H. (2002). Habitat characteristics and macroinvertebrate assemblages in boreal forest streams: relations to catchment silvicultural activities. *Hydrobiologia* 474, 239-251.
- Lorenz, C.M., Van Dijk, G.M., Van Hattum, A.G.M. & Cofino, W.P. (1997). Concepts in river ecology: Implications for indicator development. *Regulated Rivers: Research and Management* 13, 501-516.
- Lundqvist, T. & Carlsson, M. (2004). Framtidspolitiken: visionen om ett hållbart samhälle i svensk politik. Stockholm, Institutet för Framtidsstudier, 139 pp. In Swedish.
- Lynch J.A., Corbett, E.S., Hoopes, R. (1977). Implications of forest management practices on the aquatic environment. *Fisheries* 2, 16-23.
- Lôhmus, A., Kohv, K., Palo, A. & Viilma, K. (2004). Loss of old-growth, and the minimum need for strictly protected forests in Estonia. *Ecological Bulletins* 51, 401-411.
- Malanson, G.P. (1993). Riparian landscapes. Cambridge University Press.
- Malgorzata, B. (2008) Towards sustainable landscapes: understanding planning process for transport and ecological infrastructures in Poland. Unpublished Licentiate thesis at the Faculty of Forest Sciences School for Forest Engineers and Department of Forest Products. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences.
- Margules, C.R., Pressey, R.L. (2000). Systematic conservation planning. *Nature* 405, 243-253.
- Master, L.L., Flack, S.R., Stein, B.A. (1997). Rivers of life; critical watersheds for protecting freshwater biodiversity. Arlington, VA. *The Nature Conservancy*. 71p.
- Mayers, J. & Bass, S. (2004). Policy that works for forests and people. Earthscan. London.
- Meffe, G.K., Nielsen, L. A., Knight, R. L. & Schenborn, D. A. (2002). Ecosystem management. Adaptive community-based conservation. Island Press.
- Milner, N.J., Hemsworth, R.J. & Jones, B.E. (1985). Habitat evaluation as a fisheries management tool. *Journal of Fish Biology* 27, 85-108.
- Minshall, G.W., Cummins, K.W., Petersen, R.C., Cushing, C.E., Bruns, D.A., Sedell, J.R. & Vannote, R.L. (1985). Developments in stream ecosystem theory. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 42, 1045-1055.
- Moog, O. (1995). Fauna Aquatica Austriaca. Version 1995. In: Moog, O. (ed) Wasserwirtschaftskataster, Bundesministerium für Land- und Forstwirtschaft. Wien, Austria.
- Moog, O. & Chovanec, A. (2000). Assessing the ecological integrity of rivers: walking the line of among ecological, political and administrative interests. *Hydrobiologia* 422/423, 99– 109.
- Moore, I.D., Grayson, R.B. & Ladson, A.R. (1991). Digital terrain modelling a review of hydrological, geomorphological, and biological applications. *Hydrological Processes* 5, 3-30.
- Moore, A.A. & Palmer, M.A. (2005). Invertebrate biodiversity in agricultural and urban headwater streams: implications for conservation and management. *Ecological Applications* 15, 1169-1177.
- Muhar, S., Schmutz, S., Jungwirth, M. (1995). River restoration concepts goals and perspectives. *Hydrobiologia* 303, 183-194.
- Murphy, M.L. & Koski, K.V. (1989). Input and depletion of woody debris in Alaska streams and implications for streamside management. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 9, 427-436.

- Naiman, R.J., Melillo, J.M., Lock, M.A., Ford, T.E. & Reice, S.R. (1987). Longitudinal patterns of ecosystem processes and community structure in a subarctic river continuum. *Ecology* 68, 1139-1156.
- Naiman, R.J., Beechie, T.J., Benda, L.E., Berg, D.R., Bisson, P.A., MacDonald, L.H., O'Connor, M.D., Olson, P.L. & Steel, E.A. (1992). Fundamental elements of ecologically healthy watersheds in the Pacific Northwest coastal ecoregion. *In*: R.J. Naiman (ed) *Watershed management: balancing long-term sustainability with cumulative environmental change*. Springer Verlag, New York. pp. 127-188.
- Naiman, R.J. & Turner, M.G. (2000). A future perspective on North America's freshwater ecosystems. *Ecological Applications* 10, 958–970.
- Naturvårdsverket, Riksantikvarieämbetet, LiM-projektet, & Statens jordbruksverk. (1996). A Swedish countryside survey: monitoring landscape features, biodiversity, and cultural heritage. Naturvårdsverket: Riksantikvarieämbetet; Jordbruksverket, Stockholm/Jönköping.
- Newbold, J.D., Elwood, J.W., O'Neill, R.V. & Van Winkle, W. (1981). Nutrient spiraling in streams: The concept and its field measurements. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 38, 860-863.
- Nilsson, C., Reidy, C., Dynesius, M. & Revenga, C. (2005). Fragmentation and flow regulation of the world's large river systems. *Science* 309, 405-408.
- Norton, B.G. (2003). Searching for sustainability. Interdisciplinary essays in the philosophy of conservation biology. Cambridge University Press.
- Noss, R.F. (1983). A regional approach to maintain diversity. BioScience 33, 700-706.
- Noss, R.F. (1990). Indicators for monitoring biodiversity: a hierarchical approach. *Conservation Biology* 4: 355-364.
- Näslund, I. (ed) (1999). Fiske, skogsbruk och vattendrag nyttjande i ett uthålligt perspektiv. Ammeråprojektet. Fiskeriverket. 320pp. In Swedish.
- Näslund, I., Degerman E. & Nordwall, F. (1998). Brown trout (Salmo trutta) habitat use and life history in Swedish streams; possible effects of biotic interactions. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 55, 1034-42.
- Olsson, T. I. (1995). Skuggade vatten har en rikare fauna. Skog & Forskning 4, 24-31. In Swedish
- Pahl-Wostl, C. (2006). The importance of social learning in restoring the multifunctionality of rivers and floodplains. *Ecology and Society* 11, 10.
- Pearson, S.M., Turner, M.G., Gardner, R.H. & O'Neill, R.V. (1996). An organism-based perspective of habitat fragmentation. *In:* R.C. Szaro (ed) *Biodiversity in managed landscapes: theory and practice*. Oxford University Press, New York. pp. 77-95.
- Pimentel, D., Westra, L. & Noss, R.F. (2000). Ecological integrity. Integrating environment, conservation and health. Island Press.
- Postell, S. & Richter, B. (2003). Rivers for life: managing water for people and nature. Island Press.
- Poff, N.L., Allen, J.D., Bain, M.B., Karr, J.R., Prestegaard, K.L., Richter, B.D., Sparks, R.E. & Stromberg, J.C. (1997). The natural flow regime: A paradigm for river conservation and restoration. *BioScience* 47, 769–784.
- Rabeni, C.F. & Sowa, S.P. (2002). A landscape approach to managing the biota of streams. *In*: J. Liu & W.W. Taylor (eds) *Integrating landscape ecology into natural resource management*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge. pp. 114–142.

- Rader, R.B. (1997). A functional classification of the drift: traits that influence invertebrate availability to salmonids. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 54, 1211-1234.
- Ralph, S.C., Poole, G.C., Conquest, L.L. & Naiman, R.J. (1994). Stream channel morphology and woody debris in logged and unlogged basins of western Washington. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 51, 37-51.
- Ramberg, L. (1976). Effects of forestry operations on aquatic ecosystems. *Ecological Bulletins* 21, 143-149.
- Reeves, G.H., Benda, L.E., Burnett, K.M., Bisson, P.A., Sedell, J.R. (1995). A disturbancebased ecosystem approach to maintaining and restoring freshwater habitats of evolutionarily significant units of anadromus salmonids in the Pacific Northwest. In: J.L. Nielson (ed) *Evolution and the aquatic ecosystem: defining unique units in population conservation*. American Fisheries Society Symposium 17, Bethesda, Maryland. pp. 334-349.
- Resh, V.H., Hildrew, A.G., Statzner, B. & Townsend, C.R. (1994). Theoretical habitat templets, species traits, and species richness: a synthesis of long-term ecological research on the Upper Rhône River in the context of concurrently developed ecological theory. *Freshwater Biology* 31, 539-554.
- Roberge, J.-M. & Angelstam, P. (2004). Usefulness of the umbrella species concept as a conservation tool. *Conservation Biology* 18, 76-85.
- Roni, P. & Quinn, T.P. (2001). Density and size of juvenile salmonids in response to placement of large woody debris in western Oregon and Washington streams. *Canadian Journal of Fish and Aquatic Sciences* 58, 282-292.
- Richards, C., Haro, R.J. Johnson, L.B. & Host, G.E. (1997). Catchment and reach-scale properties as indicators of macroinvertebrate species traits. *Freshwater Biology* 37, 219-230.
- Richardson, J. & Lowett, I.G. (2002). Effects of sediment on fish communities in East Cape streams, North Island, New Zeeland. New Zeeland Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research 36, 431-442.
- Risser, P.G., Karr, J.R., Forman, R.T.T. (1984). Landscape Ecology: Directions and Approaches. Special Publications No. 2. *I11 Natural History Survey. Champaign*, I11.
- Sabatier, P.A., Focht, W., Lubell, M., Trachtenberg, Z., Vedlitz, A. Matlock, M. (2005a). Collaborative approaches to watershed management. *In*: P.A. Sabatier *et al.* (eds) *Swimming upstream. Collaborative approaches to watershed management.* MIT Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts. pp. 4–21.
- Sabatier, P.A., Leach, W.D., Lubell, M. & Pelkey, N.W. (2005b). Theoretical frameworks explaining partnership success. *In*: P.A. Sabatier *et al.* (eds) *Swimming upstream. Collaborative approaches to watershed management.* MIT Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts. pp. 173-199.
- Sandin, L. & Johnson, R.K. (2000). Ecoregions and benthic macroinvertebrate assemblages of Swedish streams. Journal of North American Benthological Society 19, 462-474.
- Scott, J.M., Davis, F., Csuti, B., Noss, R., Butterfield, B., Groves, C., Anderson, J., Caicco, S., D'Erchia, F., Edwards, T.C., Ulliman, J. & Wright, R.G. (1993). Gap analysis: A geographical approach to protection of biological diversity. *Wildlife Monographs* 123, 1-41.
- Scott, J.M., Heglund, P.J., Morrison, M.L., Haufler, J.B., Raphael, M.G., Wall, W.A., Samson, F.B. (eds). (2002). *Predicting species occurrences: issues of scale and accuracy*. Island Press, Covelo, CA, USA. 868 pp.

- Scott, J.M. & Schipper, J. (2006). Gap analysis: a spatial tool for conservation planning. In: M.J. Groom, G.K. Meffe & C. Ronald (eds) Principles of conservation biology (3rd ed.). Sunderland, MA: Sinauer. pp. 518-519
- Schneider, R.L., Mills, E.L., Josephson, D.C. (2002). Aquatic-terrestrial linkages and implications for landscape management. *In*: J. Liu & W.W. Taylor (eds) *Integrating landscape ecology into natural resource management*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge. pp. 241-262.
- Sear, D.A., Darrby, S.E., Thorne, C.R., Brookes, A.B. (1994). Geomorphological approach to stream stabilization and restoration: case study of the Minimshall Brook, Hertfordshire, U.K. Regulated Rivers Research and Management 9, 205–223.
- Sedell, J.R. & Everest, F.H. (1990). Historic changes in habitat for Columbia River Basin salmon under study for TES listing. U.S Forest Service General Technical Report PNW-GTR-229, 47-81.
- SEPA (Swedish Environmental Protection Agency), (2007). In: Swedish environmental handbook for monitoring: site descriptions (version 1:1 2004-09-28), Program: Freshwater. Survey: Monitoring large mussels. pp. 1-41. In Swedish.
- SEPA (Swedish Environmental Protection Agency), (2003). In: Swedish environmental handbook for monitoring: site descriptions (version 1:5 2003-09-25), Program: Freshwater. pp. 1– 17. In Swedish.
- Siitonen, J. (2001). Forest management, coarse woody debris and saproxylic organisms: Fennoscandian boreal forests as an example. *Ecological Bulletins* 49, 11-41.
- Simberloff, D. (1998). Flagships, umbrellas, and keystones: is single species management passé in the landscape era? *Biological Conservation* 83, 247-257.
- Singer, B. (2007). How useful is the landscape approach? In: M. Patry & S. Ripley (eds) World heritage forests. Leveraging conservation and the landscape level: Proceedings of the 2nd World Heritage forests meeting. March 9-11, 2005, Nancy, France. UNESCO World Heritage Centre, Paris, pp. 49-55.
- Smith, J.E. (1993) Retrospective analysis of changes in stream and riparian habitat characteristics between 1935 and 1990 in two eastern Cascade streams. Master's thesis. University of Washington, Seattle.
- Sowa, S.P. (1999). Implementing the aquatic component of GAP analysis in riverine environments. Missouri Resource Assessment Partnership, Columbia, MO.
- Statens jordbruksverk, (2005). Ängs- och betesmarksinventeringen: inventeringsmetod. Jordbruksverket, Jönköping.
- Stratzner, B. & Higler, B. (1986). Stream hydraulics as a major determinant of benthic invertebrate zonation patterns. *Freshwater Biology* 16, 127-139.
- Strayer, D.L., Beighley, R.E., Thompson, L.C., Brooks, S., Nilsson, C., Pinay, G. & Naiman, R.J. (2003). Effects of land cover on stream ecosystems: roles of empirical models and scaling issues. *Ecosystems* 6, 407-423.
- Strayer, D.L. & Smith, D.R. (2003). A guide to sampling freshwater mussel populations. American Fisheries Society Monograph 8, Bethesda, Maryland.
- Stoddard, J.L., Larsen, D.P., Hawkins, C.P., Johnson, R.K. & Norris, R.H. (2006). Setting expectations for the ecological conditions of streams: the concept of reference conditions. *Ecological Applications* 16, 1267–1276.
- 70

- Sundbaum, K. & Näslund, I. (1998). Effects of woody debris on growth and behavior of brown trout in experimental stream channels. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 7, 56-61.
- SUS, (2001). Skogsvårdsorganisationens utvärdering av skogspolitikens effekter. www.svo.se/sus. In Swedish.
- Tisdell, C. (1988). Sustainable development: differing perspectives of ecologists and economists, and relevance to LDCs. *World Development* 16, 373–384.
- Tockner, K., Schiemer, F. & Ward, J.V. (1998). Conservation by restoration: the management concept for a river floodplain system on the Danube River in Austria. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems* 8, 71-86.
- Townsend, C.R. & Hildrew, A.G. (1994). Species traits in relation to a habitat templet for river systems. *Freshwater Biology* 31, 265-275.
- Townsend, C.R., Arbuckle, C.J., Crowl, T.A. & Scarsbrook, M.R. (1997). The relationship between land use and physichochemistry, food resources and macroinvertebrate communitiesin tributaries of the Taieri River, New Zeeland: a hierarchically scaled approach. *Freshwater Biology* 37, 177-191.
- Tress, B. & Tress, G. (2003). Scenario visualisation for participatory landscape planning—a study from Denmark. *Landscape and Urban Planning* 64, 161-178.
- Tress, B., Tress, G. & Fry, G. (2005). Integrative studies on rural landscapes: policy expectations and research practice. *Landscape and Urban Planning* 70, 177-191.
- Tress, B., Tress, G., Fry, G., Opdam, P. (2006). From landscape research to landscape planning. Aspects of integration, education and application. Springer.
- Tschaplinski, P.J. & Hartman, G.F. (1983). Winter distribution of juvenile Coho salmon (Onchorhyncus kisutch) before and after loggingin Carnation Creek, British Colombia, and some implications for overwinter survival. *Canadian Journal of Fish and Aquatic Science* 40, 452-461.
- Turner, M.G. (1989). Landscape ecology: The effect of pattern of process. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 20, 171-197.
- Törnblom, J. & Angelstam, P. In press. Assessment, planning and management of ecological sustainability in riverine landscapes: towards an integrated tool-box and adaptive governace: Proceedings from the 2007 VHU Conference in Linköping 6-7 september.
- Uliczka, H., Angelstam, P., Roberge. J.-M. (2004). Indicator species and biodiversity monitoring systems for non-industrial private forest owners is there a communication problem? *Ecological Bulletins* 51, 379–384.
- Valett. H.M. Crenshaw, C.L. & Wagner, P.F. (2002). Stream nutrient uptake, forest succession, and biogeochemical theory. *Ecology* 83, 2888-2901.
- Vania, F., Taneja, B. (2004). People, policy, participation: making watershed management work in India. International institute for environment and development (IIED) and the Institute for development studies, London and Brighton, UK.
- Vannote, R.L., Minshall, G.W., Cummins, K.W., Sedell, J.R. & Cushing, C.E. (1980). The river continuum concept. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 37, 130–137.
- Verner, J., Morrison, M.L. & Ralph, C.J. (eds) (1986). Wildlife 2000. Modelling habitat relationships of terrestrial vertebrates. The University of Wisconsin Press.



- Wallace, J.B., Webster, J.R. & Meyer, J.L. (1995). Influence of log additions on physical and biotic characteristics of a mountain stream. *Canadian Journal of Fish and Aquatic Science* 52, 2120-2137.
- Ward, J.V. (1989). The four-dimensional nature of lotic systems. Journal of the North American Benthological Society 8, 2-8.
- Ward, J.V. & Tockner, K. (2001). Biodiversity: towards a unifying theme for river ecology. Freshwater Biology 46, 807–819.
- Ward, J.V. & Wiens, J.A. (2001). Ecotones of riverine ecosystems: role and typology, spatiotemporal dynamics, and river regulation. *Ecohydrology and Hydrobiology* 1, 25-36.
- Wiens, J. (2002). Riverine landscapes: taking landscape ecology into the water. Freshwater Biology 47, 501-515.
- Wiens, J.A., Stenseth, N.C., Van Horne, B. & Ims, R.A. (1993). Ecological mechanisms and landscape ecology. Oikos 66, 369–380.
- Williams, J.E., Wood, C.A., Dombeck, M.P. (1997). Understanding watershed-scale restoration. *In*: J.E. Williams, C.A. Wood, & M.P. Dombeck (eds) *Watershed restoration: principles and practices*. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, Maryland. pp. 1–13.
- Wissmar, R.C. (1997). Historical perspectives. In: J.E. Williams & C.A. Wood a & M.P. Dombeck (eds) Watershed restoration: priciples and practices. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, Maryland. pp. 66–79.
- Wissmar, R.C. & Beer, W.N. (1994). Distribution of fish and stream habitats and influences of watershed conditions, Beckler river, Washington. University Washington, School of Fisheries, Fisheries Research Institute Technical Report FRI-UW-9418, Seattle.
- Wohl, E.E. (2001). Virtual Rivers: lessons from the mountain rivers of the Colorado front range. Yale University Press.
- Worm, B., Barbier, E.B., Beaumont, N., Duffy, J.E., Folke, C., Halpern, B.S., Jackson, J. B.C., Lotze, H.K. Micheli, F., Palumbi, S.R., Sala, E., Selkoe, K.A., Stachowicz, J.J., Watson, R. (2006). Impacts of biodiversity loss on ocean ecosystem services. *Science* 314, 787 – 790.
- WCED, (1987). Report of the World Commission on Environment and Development: Our Common Future.
- Wu, J., Hobbs, R.J. (2007). Key topics in landscape ecology. Cambridge university presss.
- Young, M.R., Cosgrove, P.J. & Hastie, L.C. (2001). The extent of, and causes for, the decline of a highly threatened naiad: Margaritifera margaritifera. *In*: G. Bauer & K. Wächtler (eds) *Ecology and Evolutionary Biology of the Freshwater Mussels Unionoidea*. Springer-Verlag: Berlin; pp. 337-357.
- Zalewski, M. (2002). Guidelines for the integrated management of the watershed phytotechnology and ecohydrology. *Freshwater Management* 5, 188p.
- Zwick, P. (1992). Stream habitat fragmentation a threat to biodiversity. *Biological Conservation* 1, 80-97.
7 Acknowledgements

This Doctoral thesis has been developed with the ambition for bridging the gaps between terrestrial and aquatic science on the one hand, and multi-level governance and practical management on the other. Coming this far on my PhD-journey I have realized that I'm in deep dept to my main supervisor Per Angelstam, who has been the patient guide through deep valleys and high mountain peaks showing me the composition, structures and processes of different landscapes that I would never have seen without his guidance. Per made me understand and realize the essence of perception and communication. Thank you for the ride of my life! I would also like to express my gratitude and thank my assistant supervisor Richard Johnson for encouraging me to go to the NABS conference in Utah during the spring of 2008, and for your excellent feed-back on manuscripts. I also thank Torleif Eriksson for your earlier support during the first phase of my PhD-work. I thank all my supervisors for keeping me on the track by encouragement and inspiring scientific stringency, and above all a much appreciated support. Erik Degerman, my man! Thank you for your patience and invaluable statistical support and for being the "rock" and the main reason for my choice of scientific subject. Without you I don't know. Lennart Henrikson for your invaluable experience, support and knowledge of freshwater ecology and both critical and inspiring comments on manuscripts. Also, thank you Lennart for your assistance and company in the Carpathian Mountain streams and for bringing me to the Scottish freshwater pearl mussels. Jean-Michel Roberge for your sharp and scientific stringency and invaluable comments. Johan Temnerud for your moral and humorous support. Hope we'll find that time to make that tremendous headwater stream study now. Of course, I would like to thank the members of the examination board; Ingemar Näslund, Tuija Hilding-Rydevik and Jan Herrmann for your inspiring comments on my manuscripts. I'm also very honoured to have Mr. Michael T. Barbour as the opponent on this thesis

73

and express my deepest gratitude to him for coming to Sweden to fullfil his mission as my opponent. Financial support for this work came from Mistra, the Swedish Environmental Protection Agency and the Swedish Forest Agency. However, in the end, without the love from my family and the support from my mother and father or the patience from you Hedvig and from our sons Felix, Oscar and Axel, nothing would have been accomplished. Thank you all!

Because, I am haunted by waters...

Johan Törnblom

74